

# International Students in Saskatchewan Policies, Programs, and Perspectives

Joe Garcea and Neil Hibbert

A research report prepared for the Northern Ontario, Manitoba, and Saskatchewan Regional Node of the Social Economy Suite

Funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines du Canada

Entreprises sociales économies intelligentes et communautés durables

Réseaux

Connaissances

Synergies

Synergies

## International Students in Saskatchewan

This paper is part of a collection of research reports prepared for the project Linking, Learning, Leveraging

Social Enterprises, Knowledgeable Economies, and Sustainable Communities, the Northern Ontario, Manitoba, and Saskatchewan Regional Node of the Social Economy Suite, funded by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada.

The project is managed by four regional partners — the Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and the Community-University Institute for Social Research at the University of Saskatchewan, the Winnipeg Inner-City Research Alliance and later the Institute of Urban Studies at the University of Winnipeg, and the Community Economic and Social Development Unit at Algoma University.

The project also includes more than fifty community-based organizations in four provinces, the United States, Colombia, and Belgium.

This particular research paper was administered by the Community-University Institute for Social Research (CUISR). The opinions of the authors found herein do not necessarily reflect those of CUISR, the Linking, Learning, Leveraging project, or the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada.





## International Students in Saskatchewan

Policies, Programs, and Perspectives

Joe Garcea and Neil Hibbert



Copyright © 2014 Joe Garcea and Neil Hibbert Centre for the Study of Co-operatives Community-University Institute for Social Research University of Saskatchewan

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means without the prior written permission of the publisher. In the case of photocopying or other forms of reprographic reproduction, please consult Access Copyright, the Canadian Copyright Licensing Agency, at 1–800–893–5777.

Cover design by Nora Russell Centre for the Study of Co-operatives

Printed in Canada 14 15 16 / 3 2 1

Centre for the Study of Co-operatives

101 Diefenbaker Place University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 5B8

Phone: (306) 966–8509 Fax: (306) 966–8517

E-mail: coop.studies@usask.ca Website: www.usaskstudies.coop Community-University Institute for Social Research

R.J.D. Williams Building University of Saskatchewan 432 – 221 Cumberland Avenue Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 1M3

Phone: (306) 966–2136 / Fax: (306) 966–2122

E-mail: cuisr.liaison@usask.ca Website: www.usask.ca.cuisr

### Contents

A	CKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ix
EΣ	Purpose of Report Objectives of Report Overview of Report	xi xi xi
1.	Introduction	1
2.	IMPETUS FOR SASKATCHEWAN'S POLICY 2.1 Value for Educational System 2.2 Value for Economic System	1 2 3
3.	EVOLUTION OF SASKATCHEWAN'S POLICY	3
4.	STUDENT FLOWS TO SASKATCHEWAN: A TREND ANALYSIS 4.1 International Student Enrolments in Educational Institutions 4.2 SINP Student Applications 4.3 SINP Student Nominations 4.4 SINP Application Processing Time	10 10 15 15
5.	<ul> <li>INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS SURVEY: RESULTS &amp; ANALYSIS</li> <li>5.1 Purpose and Methodology of Survey</li> <li>5.2 Profile of Respondents</li> <li>5.3 Preferred Post-Graduation Destinations</li> <li>5.4 Factors Influencing Decisions to Stay or Leave Saskatchewan</li> <li>5.4.1 Employment Experiences, Awareness and Prospects</li> <li>5.4.2 Awareness, Knowledge, and Assessment of Immigration Policies and Programs 5.4.3 Integration Services 5.4.4 Community Profiles and Dynamics 5.4.5 Family Situations and Opportunities</li> </ul>	166 166 177 188 188 266 300 322 333
6.	OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	34

6.1 Improve Employment Opportunities for Students	34
6.2 Improve Immigration Policies, Programs and Services	36
6.3 Improve Integration Policies, Programs and Services	39
6.4 Enhance Number, Size, Vibrancy of Ethnocultural Communities	42
6.5 Improve Family Situation and Opportunities	44
APPENDIX A:	
QUESTIONNAIRES	46
Part I: Questionnaire for Individuals	46
Part II: Questionnaire for Focus Groups	48
APPENDIX B:	
Immigration Programs Requirements	50
1. Saskatchewan Immigrant Nominee Program (SINP)	50
2. Federal Post Graduate Work Permit	52
3. Federal Canadian Experience Class	54
4. Federal Skilled Worker Program	55
APPENDIX C:	
Saskatchewan Graduate Retention Program	56
APPENDIX D:	
Saskatchewan Graduate Tax Benefit Programs	58
References	60
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	
Community-University Institute for Social Research	65
Centre for the Study of Co-operatives	74

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Comparison of Student Category in Provincial Nominee Programs	6
Table 2: Federal Initiatives for Attracting and Retaining International Students	9
Table 3: Number of Entries of International in Saskatchewan 1999-2008	10
Table 4: Percentage of Entries of International Students in Saskatchewan 1999-2008	10
Table 5: Number of International Students Present in Saskatchewan 1999-2008	11
Table 6: Percentage of International Students Present in Saskatchewan 1999-2008	11
Table 7: International Students Present in Saskatchewan by Gender and Educational Institutions 1999-2008	12
Table 8: Entries of International Students at Saskatchewan Universities by Source	
Countries 1999-2008	13
Table 9: International Students Present at Saskatchewan Universities 1999-2008	14
Table 10: SINP Applications Received by Category	15
Table 11: SINP Number of Nominations,	15
Table 12: SINP Average Processing Time (in Months	15
Table 13: Gender of Respondents	16
Table 14: Marital Status of Respondents	16
Table 15: Level of Study of Respondents	16
Table 16: Home Country of Respondents	17
Table 17: Post-Graduate Destinations	17
Table 18: Work Experience While Studying	20
Table 19: Post-Graduation Employment	22
Table 20: Employment and Residence Status of Spouse	23
Table 21: Preferred Employment Sector	23
Table 22: Employment Opportunity Awareness	24
Table 23: Social Economy Awareness and Interest	25
Table 24: Interest in and Awareness of Immigration Program	26

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The authors would like to thank the extensive and generous support and assistance received in the production of this report. First and foremost, this includes Maria Basualdo and Mark Brown from CUISR and Derek Tannis from the International Student Centre at the University of Saskatchewan, all of whom were very instrumental in assisting us in framing and conducting the research. We would also like to thank Tom Wishart, Special Advisor on International Initiatives at the University of Saskatchewan, for his constructive suggestions on elements of this report.

We would also like to thank our research assistants. This includes Kim Assailly who performed a substantial and significant role in collecting the data for this report, and Keith Flysak who assisted with the alignment of information in the production of the report.

We would also like to acknowledge and express our appreciation for the financial support provided by the research project led by Prof. Lou Hammond Ketilson titled *Linking, Learning, Leveraging: Social Enterprises, Knowledgeable Economies, and Sustainable Communities,* under the auspices of the Northern Ontario, Manitoba and Saskatchewan Regional Node of SSHRC's Social Economy Suite. The financial support has contributed to the production of this report as well as the production of an M.A. thesis by one of our research assistants (i.e., Kim Assailly) that examines in greater detail the evolution of Saskatchewan's policy on the attraction and retention of international students.

We would also like to express our appreciation for the contributions made by numerous members of the governmental, educational, and immigrant settlement sectors, in providing valuable advice and support in framing and conducting this research project.

Last, but not least, we would like to acknowledge the international students and their spouses who agreed to participate in this project. Their willingness to provide insights into their experiences, needs, plans and dreams made this project possible. Our hope is that what they have kindly and generously contributed will be repaid through improvements in the various systems that will make a positive difference in their lives, the lives of their families and friends, and the lives of many others like them who come to our province and educational institutions in search of knowledge, careers, and improvements in the quality of their lives regardless of where they ultimately choose to settle.

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

#### PURPOSE OF REPORT

The overarching purpose/goal of this report is to provide an analysis of some facets of Saskatchewan's recent policies and programs related to the recruitment/attraction and retention of international students and what, if any, reforms are required.

#### **OBJECTIVES OF REPORT**

This report pursues five key objectives related to the analysis of Saskatchewan's international student policy during the past decade:

- to explain the impetus for the policy;
- to explain the key elements and evolution of the policy;
- to provide an overview of trends related to international student flows;
- to provide an overview and analysis of a survey of international students in Saskatchewan conducted in 2010 regarding several settlement and integration issues; and
- to provide a set of recommendations for potential reforms based on suggestions and insights provided by international students who participated in the survey, informed observers and those associated with this research project.

#### OVERVIEW OF REPORT

#### 1. Overview of impetus for the policy

This section provides context to the province's international students policy initiatives and identifies the driving factors behind these changes. The focus is on increasing government awareness of the importance of immigration to the province's development and its identification of international students as pillars of the immigration policy because of their value for the educational and economic systems.

#### 2. Overview of key elements and evolution of the policy

The purpose of this section is to present an overview of the development of Saskatchewan's international student policy. The general trend observed is progressive loosening of the restrictions in the federal policy as part of the broader aim of attracting and retaining international students. Key policy developments identified include: the establishment of the International Students category in the Saskatchewan Immigration Nomination Program (SINP); modification of Off-Campus Work Permits; expansion of eligibility for the Graduate Retention Program to include international students; and the establishment of the International Education Council. It also presents a comparative analysis of Saskatchewan's policy with other provincial and federal programs and policies.

#### 3. Overview of trends related to international student flows

This section establishes the significant increase of international students in Saskatchewan's post-secondary educational institutions, particularly Universities, in the past decade. It also provides demographic information on the changing make up of the international student population and notes the significant growth of Chinese students. Information on SINP student applications and nominations, as well as changes in processing times is also provided.

#### 4. Overview of the survey of international students in Saskatchewan

This section provides an overview of the results and analysis of the International Student Survey (consisting of focus groups, interviews and written questionnaires). It presents the methodology of the survey and the profile of respondents. It also identifies five major categories of factors that influence the post-graduate settlement decisions of international students: employment experiences and perspectives; experience and awareness of immigration programs; engagement and awareness of integration services and programs; community dynamics and factors; and family situations and opportunities.

#### 5. Overview of observations and recommendations

Based on the experiences and views of international students who participated in the survey, this section outlines recommendations for improving Saskatchewan's standing as an attractive site for international students to study, work and live. The recommendations are organized in the areas of: employment; immigration policy and programs; integration services and programs; community dynamics; and, family issues. The recommendations underscore the basic view of the report that the experiences of international students in these areas during their studies have significant impacts on their post-graduate decisions to stay in or leave the province.

#### 1. Introduction

The overarching goal of this report is to provide an analysis of some facets of Saskatchewan's recent policies and programs related to the attraction and retention of international students during the past decade and what, if any, reforms are required. With that goal in mind the report has six key objectives related to the analysis of Saskatchewan's international student policy:

- to explain the impetus for the policy;
- to explain the contexts in which the policy emerged;
- to explain the key elements and evolution of the policy;
- to provide an overview of trends related to international student flows;
- to provide an overview and analysis of a survey of international students in Saskatchewan conducted in 2010 regarding several settlement and integration issues; and
- to provide a set of potential reforms based on suggestions and insights provided by international students who participated in the survey, informed observers and those associated with this research project.

The remainder of the body of this report consists of six major sections devoted to each of those objectives in turn, as well as a general conclusions and a set of appendices of importance in understanding key issues related to some key provincial and federal policies and programs that impinge on international students. It is important to note that this report explains policies and programs as they were in 2010. Anyone reading this report in the future should check on whether any of these policies and programs have been modified or terminated.

#### 2. IMPETUS FOR SASKATCHEWAN'S POLICY

Saskatchewan's international student policy is largely the product of a steadily increasing provincial government interest in immigration since 1998 (Cameron, 2009; Assailly. 2010). That interest resulted in an ambitious provincial immigration strategy that increased the number of immigrants arriving annually in Saskatchewan from approximately 1,500 at the start of past decade to approximately 10,000 toward the end of the decade (Saskatchewan, 2004, 2009a). Notwithstanding the historical legacy of Saskatchewan and other provinces attracting international students in past decades (Cameron 2006), the impetus for the contemporary Saskatchewan provincial international student policy emerged at the turn of the 21<sup>st</sup> century when international students started being viewed as very valuable for the educational and economic systems in the province (Saskatchewan, 2004, 2006, 2008, 2009b, 2010a and 2010b). By this time, the value of international students for those systems was recognized more fully than in previous decades not only by the Saskatchewan provincial government and its counterparts in other provinces, but also by the federal government (Peyko, 2004; BC, 2006; Ontario, 2009; Manitoba, 2010; CBEI, 2007, 2009; CMEC, 2010, COF, 2011). Furthermore, all of them recognized that they would have to develop effective policies, programs and services to become more successful in competing against other countries in the world (CBOC, 2009; Kennedy 2010; Alboim 2010) and particularly the United States (CFR, 2009; United States, 2010a, 2010b, 2010c) and Australia (Marginson, 2007; Australia, 2010a, 2010b, 2010c, 2010d) in attracting

international students to study in their institutions and at least for some to fill knowledge and skill shortages in their respective labour markets (WES, 2010).

#### 2.1 VALUE FOR EDUCATIONAL SYSTEM

In the case of the educational system, international students have been viewed as valuable primarily as sources of human capital and to some extent also of financial capital (Saskatchewan, 2006, 2008a, 2008b, 2009a, and 2010a; Canada, 2009f).

As sources of human capital, international students provide a number of benefits for educational institutions across undergraduate and graduate levels. In some cases, international students are needed to create a critical mass of students required to sustain some academic programs. In other cases international graduate students, and particularly those at the graduate level, provide the research and teaching assistance needed for academic training and research programs to operate effectively. International students are also perceived as valuable in advancing the goals of educational institutions to 'internationalize' their student composition, course content, class discussions, research agendas, and occasionally even their teaching staff insofar as some graduate students are assigned sessional teaching positions

As sources of financial capital, international students are valued not only as a source of additional tuition revenue, but also as a potential source of additional revenue for post-secondary institutions through government grants that take the number of registered students into account either directly or indirectly. If international students have a positive experience at an educational institution they can also create a self-perpetuating base for attracting additional students and the related revenues in the future.

The observations regarding the perceived and actual financial capital value of international students, it must be noted the attraction and retention of international students is by no means revenue source without some costs. Notable costs are related to some of the programs and services that they access during their studies (e.g., international student welcome, orientation, and support centres; career centres, counselling services; learning assistance centres, etc.). In some jurisdictions international students also add some costs beyond the educational institutions in which they study. In Saskatchewan, for example, international students can access health services on the same basis as other students from the moment they register, rather than incurring any special charges or after a waiting period.

#### 2.2 VALUE FOR ECONOMIC SYSTEM

International students have also been perceived as valuable for the province's economic system (Saskatchewan, 2009a; Canada. 2009f). Whereas prior to the introduction of the international student policy, international students were underutilized as a source of educated and skilled immigrants, in subsequent years considerable efforts have been made to utilize them more extensively and effectively. Today international students are recognized as providing educated and skilled human capital needed by the labour market both during and after their studies. Moreover, both during and after their studies they are seen as having higher integration capacity and lower settlement costs than some other categories of immigrants. They are also deemed to be valuable for the local and provincial economy as source of financial capital through their own spending. Finally, they are also deemed as potentially valuable for the provincial and local economies if their family members with skills or financial capital immigrate to the province under any categories of the SINP including the Entrepreneur/Investor category or the Family category..

#### 3. EVOLUTION OF SASKATCHEWAN'S POLICY

The development of Saskatchewan's international student policy is a relatively recent strategic initiative that was launched in 2004. Prior to 2004, Saskatchewan did not have a singular and explicitly defined policy on international students with clearly articulated terms and conditions. Students destined to educational institutions in Saskatchewan, as in other provinces, were subject only to federal policy that was applied uniformly across the country. This policy included restrictive regulations such as limiting the employment of international students to the educational institution while studying. Eventually the policy was modified to allow students to work in Canada for up to one year after they graduated, but thereafter they had to leave the country to apply for permanent resident status. As discussed below, however, during the latter part of the recent decade this facet of the national and provincial policies were made much less restrictive as both levels of government sought ways to facilitate the attraction and retention of international students (Saskatchewan, 2004, 2008a, 2008b, 2009a, 2009b; Canada, 2004a, 2005b, 2006a, 2006b, 2008b, 2008c, 2009b, 2009c, 2009d, 2009e, 2009f, and 2010a).

The development of Saskatchewan's international students policy began in 2003 with the report entitled 'Open Up Saskatchewan', which emphasized the importance and value of international students (Saskatchewan, 2003). The report included two notable recommendations that were implemented in 2004. The first was the creation of an international student category in the SINP to increase the number of provincial nominees. This recommendation was based on the view that that their knowledge and skill-sets were likely to be very valuable to the province's economy, and that their economic and social integration would be easier than for their counterparts who had not studied in Saskatchewan or elsewhere in Canada. The second recommendation was to negotiate an MOU with the federal government, comparable to the one negotiated by New Brunswick that would extend the post-graduation work period from one to two years. In 2004 the provincial government implemented these two recommendations. Other recommendations of the 2003 report were not implemented. This included the following recommendations: to establish an exchange program based on the model proposed in a report titled 'Expanding International Mobility for Study and Experience'; establishing targeted bursaries for international students

with limited funds to defray costs of their education in the province; defraying the cost of English language examination for students enrolling in post-secondary educational institutions in the province; and reviewing the admission policies of post-secondary institutions in the province in detail to ensure that there are no artificial barriers created for admission of international students.

In 2004 the Saskatchewan and federal governments signed an agreement to create a pilot project for three years designed to make it increase the amount of time that international students graduating from universities and colleges in Saskatchewan, to work in the province two years, rather than only one year as had been the case under the previous agreement and policy framework. The international students were required to work in areas related to their areas studies (Saskatchewan, 2004).

In 2005 the Canada-Saskatchewan Immigration Agreement, which replaced the 1998 agreement, affirmed the province's right to formulate and implement policies and programs related to international students (Canada, 2005a). One of these was the establishment of the International Students category within the SINP. The similarities and differences for the International Student category in Saskatchewan's SINP and the nominee programs of other provinces are profiled in Table 1. In that same year the federal and provincial governments agreed to establish the National Post-Graduate Work Program to replace the provincial pilot projects with a new provincial post-graduate work program allowing students to work for three years after graduation (Canada, 2005b).

In 2006 the provincial government changed its own Off-Campus Work Permits policy in two ways: first, the length of time of study before being eligible to apply for an off-campus work permit was reduced from twelve to six months; secondly, regardless of whether they would be working on-campus or off-campus, international students could work for a maximum of twenty hours per week during the school year, and on a full time basis during the summer break and holidays (Saskatchewan, 2006).

The new International Students category within the SINP also continued to evolve and in 2008 it was expanded to include: students who graduate anywhere in Canada, rather than just Saskatchewan; students who worked for a Saskatchewan employer in any occupation (rather than in their field of study) on a Post-Graduation Work Permit for at least six months; employment regardless of skill requisites and fit to students' area of study; and students holding permanent, full-time job offers in any occupation (Saskatchewan, 2008c). Changes were also made to grant work permits for spouses of international students holding a post-graduate work permit without obtaining 'Labour Market Approval' from Human Resources and Social Development Canada (HRSDC) as was required in previous years. Those program changes were made to ensure that the criteria under the SINP were more closely aligned with the federal Post-Graduation Work Permit Program (Saskatchewan, 2008c, Canada, 2009a, 2009b, 2009c).

During the latter part of the past decade the provincial government also undertook some initiatives to retain students in Saskatchewan after they completed their studies. One of the key initiatives adopted in 2008 was making international students eligible for the Graduate Retention Program the details of which can be found in Appendix C (Saskatchewan, 2008a, 2008b). Under

this program, international students completing eligible programs of study (i.e., equivalent to six months of study and results in a certificate, diploma, degree or journeyperson's certification) and who stay to work in Saskatchewan can apply for a refundable income tax rebate of up to \$20,000 in tuition fees over seven years. The program includes students who graduated in Saskatchewan as well as other graduates across and beyond the country who choose to pursue careers in Saskatchewan.

In 2010 the provincial government established the International Education Council (IEC). This was based on a recommendation that emerged from stakeholder consultations undertaken two years earlier. The stated purpose of the IEC is to "help the Government of Saskatchewan position the province internationally as a renowned destination for quality education and research" (Saskatchewan, 2010a, 2010b). Toward that end, it makes recommendations for: student recruitment; student and faculty exchanges; and student engagement. The IEC consists of representatives from stakeholder groups in the secondary and post-secondary education sector involved in education. This includes representatives of public and separate school boards, representatives of post-secondary institutions including universities and colleges, and provincial government's departments responsible for education and immigration (Saskatchewan, 2010a, 2010b).

**Table 1: Comparison of Student Category in Provincial Nominee Programs 2010** 

Provinces	Student Category in PNP	Work Experience Requirement	Permanent Full Time Job Offer	Employer Involvement	Post- Secondary Education
British Columbia	Yes  Students are included under the Strategic Occupations category which is one of the two categories	None	Yes  Market rate wage required  Occupations in certain NOC Skill levels  Be able to provide for themselves financially	Indirectly through job offers	Graduated from a recognized post-secondary institution in Canada within two years of application
Alberta	Yes  International graduates are included under the Employer Driven Stream  New pilot project this year for Masters and PhD students in the natural, applied and health sciences	Yes  Six months of full time work experience with the same Alberta Employer	Yes  Job offer must be in NOC 0, A, B Skill levels	Indirectly through job offers	Graduated from an approved institution in a program that was minimum two years for undergraduate and one year for graduate level
Saskatchewan	Yes  Students are included under the Post-Graduation Work Permit Stream and the Master's and PhD Stream of the SINP	Six months of paid employment that does not have to be related to their field of study  Can use co-op terms and both on-campus, off-campus work to meet this criterion	Yes  Does not have to relate to the students' field of study	Indirectly through job offers	Graduated from a recognized post-secondary educational institution in Canada that was at least one academic year of full time study

Manitoba	Yes	Full time for six months at the same employer as job offer before application	Yes  Related to your field of study	Direct Involvement	Graduated from a recognized college or university in the province
Ontario	Yes Has 3 streams for students to apply		Yes Except Masters and PhD graduates	Direct Involvement	Minimum two years at a recognized institution in Canada for the International Student with a Job Offer Stream  Minimum two year program at recognized Ontario institution for Ph.D. and Masters Pilot Graduate Streams
**Quebec's authority to deal with international students falls within the scope of its comprehensive bilateral immigration agreement with the federal government)	Yes  Quebec Experience Program	Work experience must be in a skill level above D by the NOC	Ability to support oneself financially for three months after obtaining the PR		Hold a Quebec diploma or expect to complete program within six months of the date that application is submitted.  Intermediate knowledge of French

Nova Scotia	Yes International Graduate Stream	Full-time for three months at the same employer as job offer	Full time job offer. The government will only consider certain types of occupations and assesses on a case by case basis. The wage must meet provincial standards	Indirect through job offer	Graduated from a program of at least one year and studied in Canada, at a recognized post-secondary institution
NFLD	Yes International Graduate Category	None	Full time job offer in field of study or related, or have proven attachment to the local labour market (i.e., those working in temporary positions that have potential to be extended).  Wages for jobs or job offers must meet the prevailing wage rates	Indirect through job offer	Completed a minimum two year program at a recognized Canadian college or university, and applying within two years of graduation
New	No				
Brunswick	27				
PEI	No				

#### **Table 2: Federal Initiatives for Attracting and Retaining International Students**

**2004--** Pilot project with provinces to grant post-graduate work permits for two years. Prior to 2003 international students who graduated at a Canadian post-secondary institution could only get a one year post-graduate work permit.

http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/department/media/releases/2004/0409-pre.asp

**2005--** Federal government created the National Post-Graduate Work Program. This program replaced all the agreements with individual provinces regarding post-graduate work permits. The Post-Graduate Work Permit increased the length of time that students could work in Canada from one to two years after graduation provided they worked outside Toronto, Vancouver, and Montreal. It also gave students more flexibility to change programs of study while in Canada.

http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/department/media/releases/2005/0512-e.asp

http://www.cic.gc.ca/english//department/media/backgrounders/2006/2006-04-27.asp - tphp idtphp

**2006--** Off-campus work permit program was launched nationally through agreements with the provinces and territories. This work permit allows students to work 20 hours per week and unlimited number of hours during the summer break and school holidays. Prior to this international students could only work on-campus while studying.

http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/department/media/releases/2006/0601-e.asp

**2006--** Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade (DFAIT) launched the Edu-Canada unit to promote Canada as a destination of choice to be educated and coordinate with the provinces on attraction efforts.

http://www.international.gc.ca/education/about us-a notre sujet.aspx?lang=eng

**2007--** Federal Budget assigned DFAIT a mandate to create a marketing campaign to attract international students. The result was the campaign titled 'Imagine Education au/in Canada.' <a href="http://imagine.cmec.ca/en/">http://imagine.cmec.ca/en/</a>

**2008**-- Department of International Trade released report titled "Economic

Impact of International Education..1 The report emphasized the positive economic impact international students have on Canada. The report revealed that international students created approximately \$291 million in government revenue in 2008. http://www.international.gc.ca/education/impact.aspx

**2008-**- Council of Ministers of Education Canada (CMEC) and DFAIT launched a branding campaign that highlighted the opportunities for international students to study in Canada. The new brand was entitled Imagine Education au/in Canada. The purpose of this branding is articulated on the CMEC website: "A new brand was needed to clearly establish Canada and its provinces and territories as a preferred destination for the growing number of international students looking to travel abroad to pursue their education......fierce competition by an increasing number of countries vying for international students made it necessary to create a strong and distinctive image." <a href="http://imagine.cmec.ca/en/">http://imagine.cmec.ca/en/</a>

**2008--** Off-campus work permit application became available online. This made it easier and quicker for students to apply. *A few students mentioned that they liked online applications and they felt it made the process quicker.* 

http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/department/media/releases/2008/2008-09-03a.asp

**2008--** Post-Graduate Work Permit extended to three years and eliminated the requirement for job offer or employment in a particular field of study.

http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/department/media/releases/2008/2008-04-21.asp

2010--The Federal Skilled Worker Program and Canadian Experience Class were modified.

- Those applying to the Federal Skilled Worker Program and Canadian Experience Class will be required to complete a language proficiency assessment exam. Documents such as completed theses will not be enough to prove language proficiency.
- Students can only apply for the FSWP if they have an offer of permanent employment or experience in one of the 29 in-demand occupations. Prior to the change students were exempt from having experience or job offer in the in-demand occupations.

http://www.cic.gc.ca/ENGLISH/department/media/backgrounders/2010/2010-06-26c.asp

#### 4. STUDENT FLOWS TO SASKATCHEWAN: A TREND ANALYSIS

#### 4.1 International Student Enrolments in Educational Institutions

This section provides information on international students in Saskatchewan between 1999 and 2008, a period in which there has been a substantial increase in the number of such students. The focus is both on student entries (i.e., arriving annually) and students present (i.e., living and studying in the province) for each of those years. Although the principal focus is on international students in post-secondary institutions, this section also provides some insights on the number of such students in the primary and secondary education institutions.

Table 3 reveals that the annual entries of international students increased substantially between 1999 and 2008. The increase has occurred primarily in the cities of Regina and Saskatoon. Indeed, for most of this period there has been a slight decrease in the number of annual entries.

Table 3: Number of Entries of International Students in Saskatchewan (1999-2008)

	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
Regina	403	469	520	523	576	472	534	429	424	534
Saskatoon	399	431	543	446	460	414	490	533	606	648
Other Saskatchewan	346	338	335	317	352	279	299	305	239	251
Saskatchewan	1,148	1,238	1,398	1,286	1,388	1,165	1,323	1,267	1,269	1,433

Source: Government of Canada, CIC, *Facts and Figures* 2008: (DVD) <a href="http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/statistics/facts2008/temporary/11.asp">http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/statistics/facts2008/temporary/11.asp</a>

Table 4 reveals that the annual entries of international students in Saskatchewan as a percentage of the total number of entries in Canada declined from 2.6 percent in 1999 to 2.1 percent in 2008. It is important to note, however, that the decline has been largely due to a decline in entries destined to places other than the two major cities of Regina and Saskatoon for which the percentage of entries remained relatively stable despite the fact that the actual number of entries increased substantially.

Table 4: Percentage of Entries of International Students in Saskatchewan (1999-2008)

	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
Regina	0.9	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.9	0.9	0.8	0.7	0.8
Saskatoon	1.1	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.9	0.9	1.0	1.0
Other Saskatchewan	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3
Saskatchewan	2.6	2.3	2.2	2.2	2.2	2.2	2.2	2.1	2.0	2.1

Source: Government of Canada, CIC, *Facts and Figures* 2008: (DVD) <a href="http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/statistics/facts2008/temporary/11.asp">http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/statistics/facts2008/temporary/11.asp</a>

Table 5 reveals the number of international students present in Saskatchewan increased by more than 1,500 between 1999 when it was 2,499 and 2008 when it was 3,655. The increase has occurred primarily in the cities of Regina and Saskatoon. For most of this period the number of international students present in other communities in Saskatchewan fluctuated, but generally only marginally as it reached a high of 693 in 2003 and a low of 488 in 2008.

Table 5: Number of International Students Present in Saskatchewan (1999-2008)

	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
Regina	851	902	1,061	1,202	1,313	1,441	1,515	1,330	1,318	1,391
Saskatoon	1,106	1,157	1,346	1,464	1,518	1,577	1,587	1,585	1,709	1,776
Other Saskatchewan	542	570	625	632	693	612	632	578	508	488
Saskatchewan	2,499	2,629	3,032	3,298	3,524	3,630	3,734	3,493	3,535	3,655

Source: Government of Canada, CIC, *Facts and Figures* 2008: (DVID) http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/statistics/facts2008/temporary/11.asp

Table 6 reveals that the percentage of International students present in Saskatchewan as a percentage of the total number present in Canada declined from 2.6 percent in 1999 to 2.1 percent in 2008. It is important to note, however, that the decline has been largely due to a decline in percentage of international students present in communities other than the two major cities of Regina and Saskatoon for which the percentage remained relatively stable despite the fact that the actual number present in those two cities increased substantially.

**Table 6: Percentage of International Students Present in Saskatchewan (1999-2008)** 

	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
Regina	0.9	0.8	0.8	8.0	8.0	0.9	0.9	0.8	0.7	0.8
Saskatoon	1.1	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.9	0.9	1.0	1.0
Other Saskatchewan	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.3
Saskatchewan	2.6	2.3	2.2	2.2	2.2	2.2	2.2	2.1	2.0	2.1

Source: Government of Canada, CIC, *Facts and Figures* 2008: (DVD) <a href="http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/statistics/facts2008/temporary/11.asp">http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/statistics/facts2008/temporary/11.asp</a>

Table 7 reveals that between 1999 and 2008 the majority of international students in Saskatchewan were male and that the percentage of males and females changed very little over time. Whereas in 1999 approximately 57 per cent (1,415) were male and 43 per cent (1,084) were female, by 2008 approximately 59 per cent (2,142) were male and 41 per cent (1,513) were female.

Table 7 also reveals that between 1999 and 2008 the majority of students were enrolled in universities. It also reveals that the number of students enrolled in universities increased from 904 students in 1999 to 1,585 by 2008. The next largest group of international students was enrolled in primary and secondary educational institutions. The international students enrolled in trade institutions, other post-secondary institutions, and other types of educational institutions constituted a very small proportion of the total number during this period.

Table 7: International Students Present in Saskatchewan by Gender and Educational Institutions 1999-2008

Year	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
Secondary or less	377	377	426	406	405	417	436	382	401	443
Trade	26	26	32	30	29	36	36	26	18	11
University	904	961	1,161	1,331	1,436	1,509	1,546	1,517	1,557	1,585
Other post- secondary	52	66	89	99	118	82	84	69	59	68
Other	56	69	68	69	84	83	79	64	45	35
Level of study not stated	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Males	1,415	1,499	1,778	1,935	2,072	2,127	2,181	2,058	2,080	2,142
Secondary or less	330	332	348	323	348	344	391	327	338	395
Trade	15	19	18	18	20	25	21	15	11	19
University	661	691	785	901	952	1,015	1,036	988	1,014	1,019
Other post- secondary	30	44	52	63	75	55	49	60	49	50
Other	45	43	50	58	57	64	56	45	43	30
Level of study not stated	3	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Females	1,084	1,130	1,254	1,363	1,452	1,503	1,553	1,435	1,455	1,513
Secondary or less	707	709	774	729	753	761	827	709	739	838
Trade	41	45	50	48	49	61	57	41	29	30
University	1,565	1,652	1,946	2,232	2,388	2,524	2,582	2,505	2,571	2,604
Other post- secondary	82	110	141	162	193	137	133	129	108	118
Other	101	112	118	127	141	147	135	109	88	65
Level of study not stated	3	1	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Gender not stated	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total (Males & Females)	2,499	2,629	3,032	3,298	3,524	3,630	3,734	3,493	3,535	3,655

Source: Government of Canada, CIC, Facts and Figures 2008 (DVD):

http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/statistics/facts2008/temporary/11.asp

Table 8 provides the data on international students entering Saskatchewan's universities for the first time annually from 1999 to 2008 by source countries. It reveals that the number of international students entering Saskatchewan's universities has increased during that period from a low of 584 in 1999 to a high of 793 in 2008. It also reveals that China consistently led all other countries for the number of students entering university in the province.

**Table 8: Entries of International Students at Universities by Source Countries** 

Year	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
China,	121	115	281	215	260	164	153	282	295	378
South Korea	46	77	68	67	62	29	42	56	55	46
Japan	80	59	56	70	79	90	107	7	48	44
India	21	26	23	35	45	32	36	28	38	34
United States	35	25	25	24	28	15	34	22	26	18
Germany	15	20	15	12	21	15	13	13	15	13
Thailand	15	16	20	18	17	24	17	14	17	12
Hong Kong	15	8	10	5	15	18	12	6	6	6
Other Countries	236	280	242	239	219	203	208	170	199	242
Total	584	626	740	685	746	590	622	668	699	793

Source: Government of Canada, CIC, *Facts and Figures* 2008 (DVD): http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/statistics/facts2008/temporary/11.asp

Table 9 reveals that since 1999 China has consistently supplied Saskatchewan with the largest number of students. Indeed in 2008, Chinese students constituted 1376 of 2604 or approximately 50% of international students enrolled at the two universities in the province. It continues to outpace every other country in this regard. Five other major source countries have been India, South Korea, Japan, Hong Kong and the United States.

Table 9: International Students Present at Saskatchewan Universities 1999-2008

Year	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
China	264	341	578	830	998	1,141	1,185	1,240	1,311	1,376
India	66	67	72	87	120	134	140	119	132	131
South Korea	133	147	164	160	138	122	128	108	127	115
Saudi Arabia	12	14	12	14	11	14	24	21	39	104
Japan	196	142	138	138	146	130	142	117	84	69
United States	69	71	81	77	66	61	63	62	70	61
Hong Kong	197	181	165	142	119	120	106	89	74	59
Thailand	38	35	50	54	47	54	56	56	49	51
Nigeria	13	31	34	39	61	78	71	67	60	50
Iran	31	28	22	36	37	51	54	44	44	48
Vietnam	6	12	18	17	23	26	26	29	30	29
Mexico	31	48	46	50	29	35	34	39	40	28
Bangladesh	10	11	24	36	39	46	39	35	23	26
Botswana	5	9	9	9	14	15	22	25	23	25
Malaysia	33	30	35	29	30	29	34	32	25	21
Germany	24	23	22	25	29	22	20	19	21	19
Taiwan	51	58	61	61	48	47	46	31	24	17
Ghana	31	37	40	41	35	25	28	20	17	16
Pakistan	36	29	24	22	16	10	7	9	10	15
Kenya	29	25	27	26	22	20	13	15	16	14
Columbia	21	21	21	20	10	7	9	10	11	14
United	22	21	27	23	27	22	9	14	12	13
Kingdom										
Ukraine	15	12	10	14	12	14	13	12	14	12
Libya	12	7	11	9	16	16	18	16	15	12
Indonesia	25	25	25	21	18	19	17	20	19	11
France	10	7	6	10	9	11	9	7	7	10
Turkey	10	9	8	8	10	7	9	10	11	10
Poland	8	8	5	8	7	9	8	9	7	8
Russia	7	14	13	13	12	10	11	12	7	8
South Africa	7	7	16	15	13	12	12	9	13	7
Sweden	7	14	9	5	9	6	7	5	7	5
Other Countries	146	164	173	193	217	211	222	204	229	220
Total	1,565	1,652	1,946	2,232	2,388	2,524	2,582	2,505	2,571	2,604

Source: Government of Canada, CIC, *Facts and Figures* 2008 (DVD): http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/statistics/facts2008/temporary/11.asp

#### 4.2 SINP STUDENT APPLICATIONS

Since its implementation in 2004, interest in the SINP has increased exponentially. In 2004-05 no application data was collected. Whereas in 2005-06 only 10 applications were received, by 2009-10 this had increased to 149, an increase of 1,390 per cent.

**Table 10: SINP Applications Received by Category** 

Year	2004-05	2005-06	2006-07	2007-08	2008-09	2009-10
Students	No data	10	36	78	89	149

Source: Government of Saskatchewan, 2009b

#### **4.3 SINP STUDENT NOMINATIONS**

The number of nominations for the SINP has also increased substantially since the program's implementation. Whereas in 2004-05 only 6 individuals were nominated, by 2009-10 this had increased to 140.

**Table 11: SINP Number of Nominations** 

Year	2004-05	2005-06	2006-07	2007-08	2008-09	2009-10
Students	6	11	18	63	95	140

Source: Government of Saskatchewan, 2009b

#### 4.4 SINP APPLICATION PROCESSING TIME

Despite the SINP's increasing popularity and case load, the average processing time continues to decline. Whereas in 2007-08 it took an average of 5.1 months to process a case, that decreased to 3.5 months in 2008-09 and to 2.5 months in 2009-10. This improvement in processing times has been a very good trend. Unfortunately, a perception persists among many international students who were interviewed for this report that it probably takes much longer than that to process an application.

**Table 12: SINP Average Processing Time (in Months)** 

Year	2007-08	2008-09	2009-10
<b>Processing Time</b>	5.1	3.5	2.5

Source:, Government of Saskatchewan, 2009b

#### 5. International Students Survey: Results & Analysis

#### 5.1 Purpose and Methodology of Survey

This section of the report provides an overview of the findings of a survey of international students. The central purpose of the survey was to uncover the major factors influencing international students' decisions regarding post-graduate residency and work either in Saskatchewan or elsewhere following the completion of their studies. The survey also sought to uncover student awareness of, experiences with, and perspectives on immigration and economic integration policies, programs and services.

The survey consisted of a combination of focus groups, one-on-one interviews, and questionnaires involving 35 international students (undergraduate, graduate and recent graduates) in Saskatoon and Regina. The survey was conducted during the spring and summer of 2010. The following subsections are based on the data collected through the aforementioned means, but particularly the questionnaires.

#### 5.2 Profile of Respondents

In total, 35 international students in Regina and Saskatoon were interviewed. Of these, 20 were male and 15 were female (Table 13). Eight of these participants had a spouse and 27 did not (Table 14). The number of undergraduate and graduate students was approximately the same. Of the 35 respondents, 16 were undergraduate students and 19 were graduate students (Table 15). Of the 19 graduate students, 14 were enrolled in a Master's program and 5 were enrolled in a PhD program (Table 15). Whereas 11 respondents were from China, only less than three were from each of the other source countries (Table 16).

**Table 13: Gender of Respondents** 

Gender	Female	Male
Students	15	20

**Source**: Survey conducted for this project

**Table 14: Marital Status of Respondents** 

Marital Status	Participants with Spouse	Participants Without Spouse
Students	8	27

**Source**: Survey conducted for this project

**Table 15: Level of Study of Respondents** 

Degree	Number of Respondents
Bachelors	16
Master's	14
PhD	5

**Source**: Survey conducted for this project

**Table 16: Home Country of Respondent** 

Country	Number of Respondents
Bangladesh	2
China	11
Columbia	3
Ecuador	1
Ghana	2
Iran	2
Jamaica	1
Kyrgyzstan	1
Mexico	2
Nigeria	3
Panama	1
South Korea	1
Russia	1
Thailand	1
Ukraine	1
No Response	2

**Source**: Survey conducted for this project

#### 5.3 Preferred Post-Graduation Destinations

The majority of international students, 23, preferred to stay in Canada following the completion of their studies, 6 intended to return to their home country, and 5 were undecided. Of those who intended to say in Canada, four students planned to stay in Saskatchewan and 17 (i.e., approximately 66%) were open to the possibility of staying in the province (Table 17).

**Table 17: Post-Graduate Destinations** 

Intended Destination	Staying in Saskatchewan	Canada (Open to Saskatchewan)	Larger Canadian City	North America	Returning to Home Country	Undecided
Respondents	4	17	2	1	6	5

**Source**: Survey conducted for this project

#### 5.4 FACTORS INFLUENCING DECISIONS TO STAY OR LEAVE SASKATCHEWAN

The survey data revealed five major factors that influence decisions of international students to stay in or leave Saskatchewan following the completion of their studies. These are:

- 1. Students' pre- and post-graduation employment experiences, their awareness of existing jobs, and their perceptions of job prospects in the future for themselves and their spouses.
- 2. Students' experience with, and awareness and knowledge of, immigration policies and programs of different levels of government.
- 3. Students' awareness and use of integration services and programs.
- 4. Students' perceptions of community profile and dynamics.
- 5. Students' perceptions of family situations and opportunities

The following section provides and overview of the international students' responses related to each of these five factors, as well as some observations regarding the influence they have on their decisions regarding their preferred places of residence after completing their studies in Saskatchewan

#### 5.4.1 EMPLOYMENT EXPERIENCES, AWARENESS AND PROSPECTS

The first major set of factors affecting decisions of international students either to stay in or leave Saskatchewan included their employment experiences, awareness of employment opportunities, and prospects of employment opportunities. The vast majority of respondents indicated that the most significant factor in their decision to stay in or to leave the province was finding employment for themselves in fields related to their educational background. For some married students, another important factor was finding employment for their spouses either in fields related to their educational background or at least with employers who had a good working environment and relatively good wages.

In assessing the employment prospects for themselves and their spouses several students indicated that the performance of Saskatchewan's provincial economy was a major consideration for them. More specifically, they noted that if indications were that the provincial economy would continue to perform well they were more likely to consider staying in the province. At the time of the interviews the respondents indicated that they were reasonably confident about the province's economic growth, but they were less confident about the employment prospects for themselves and their spouses.

The extent to which students were willing to stay in or leave Saskatchewan was also a function of economic conditions and employment opportunities either in other parts of Canada or in their home countries. Those considering moving to other parts of Canada indicated that they were likely to move to large cities in other provinces that would either afford them and/or their spouse good employment opportunities or at least the requisite social networks that would likely increase their prospects of finding such employment opportunities. The major cities generally mentioned were those in British Columbia and Alberta (e.g., Vancouver and Calgary). The cities mentioned were perceived as having vibrant economies, good employment prospects, and robust

and vibrant ethnocultural communities. Some of them were not very confident that prospective employers outside their respective ethnocultural communities would hire them.

Those considering moving back to their home countries indicated that their decision was based on the likelihood that they would fare either as well or better there than they would in Saskatchewan or any other part of Canada. Whereas some indicated that they were confident that they would fare better because their parents were wealthy, others indicated that they were likely to fare better because it would be easier for them to find employment either on their own or with the assistance of their social networks. Another respondent echoed similar sentiments regarding the value of the social networks in his country of origin, and the challenges in experiencing those in Saskatchewan. The student also feared that he would not be able to find employment in Saskatchewan due to his uncommon foreign name and was seriously considering moving to Vancouver where his name would not be as unusual.

The following section and sub-sections examine international students' responses on the following matters:

- employment experience pre-graduation and post-graduation;
- Awareness, knowledge, and assessment of immigration policies and programs;
- Awareness, knowledge and assessment of integration programs and services;
- Community profiles and dynamics; and
- Family situations and opportunities

#### 5.4.1.1 Employment Experience Pre- and Post-Graduation

International students are allowed to work while studying in Saskatchewan, albeit subject to some restrictions related to the time after arrival, the place of employment and total hours of employment per week. International students are not allowed to start working either on or off-campus until six months after commencing their studies. Thereafter they are permitted to work either on-campus or off-campus for up to twenty hours per week during the regular school year and full time during the summer break and holidays.

Such students are also permitted to work after graduation with fewer restrictions than they faced while they were completing their studies. Moreover, in recent years, the amount of time for which they have been allowed to work after graduation has gradually increased under various policies. In contrast to the original policy where students were not allowed to work in Canada after completing their studies, more recent policies have not only allowed them to do so, but they have lengthened the term of employment from six months to one year and most recently to three years.

#### 5.4.1.1.1 Pre-Graduation Employment Experience

Most respondents had found employment while studying. Generally, all respondents were aware that international students are allowed to work while studying at a post-secondary institution. However, some respondents implied that not all international students are aware of the employment regulations or potential employment opportunities. They added that many students do not fully understand the importance of those work experiences for their future career and immigration prospects. As one respondent stated: "Most international students think they should study and get good grades and not focus on getting [work] experience... ...letting students know the importance of [work] experience ... is a big thing."

Most of the respondents had worked on-campus or off-campus while pursuing their studies. Of the 35 respondents, 25 indicated they had worked on campus, 13 indicated they had worked off campus, 7 indicated they had been enrolled in a co-op program, and only 3 indicated that they had not worked and had not intended to work while completing their studies (Table 18).

The general consensus was that finding jobs was not easy, but that it was easier to secure employment on-campus than off-campus. Moreover, respondents who had worked on-campus tended to have better experiences than those who had worked off-campus.

**Table 18: Work Experience While Studying** 

Number of
Responses
25
13
7
3
43

N.B.: The total number of responses is greater than the total number of respondents because some respondents had engaged in work both on-campus and off-campus.

**Source**: Survey conducted for this project

Attitudes towards on-campus employment tended to be more positive than towards off-campus employment. Many respondents with positive employment experiences during their studies indicated that those experiences had contributed to not only to their economic and social integration during their studies, but also to their decisions to consider staying in Saskatchewan or elsewhere in Canada after graduation.

Those who worked on campus while studying did so for several entities including: departments as teaching assistants, research units as research assistants, libraries, food outlets, and student unions. The majority of those who found jobs on-campus and off-campus did so through their supervisors or other members of their departments, friends and posters advertising jobs, or job search support centres.

Respondents indicated that it was easier to secure employment on-campus because they found out about job opportunities through their social network, which included thesis supervisors, professors and friends. Other factors that contributed to their ability to secure jobs on campus were that: they knew their employers and their employers knew them; the application and interview processes were more streamlined and more informal; and they were able to project themselves as more competent because there was lower levels of anxiety related to various aspects of the application and interview processes. The prevailing view was that the on-campus application and interview processes were generally simpler and that the people who they were dealing with were generally supportive. They also indicated that they were quite satisfied with working conditions and compensation levels.

Respondents indicated that off-campus employment opportunities were scarce in their areas of interest or expertise. Employment opportunities that existed tended to be in the service sector where the compensation levels were quite low. Some noted that even in that sector it was difficult to find jobs for the following reasons: they found it challenging to fill out various types of applications (i.e., the off-campus work permit applications and specific job application): they did not have Canadian work experience; they had not established work-related relationships in Canada with people who they could list as references; and employers were concerned or wary because they were international students on special work permits and not permanent residents or citizens. Some noted that not knowing the system and people within it was detrimental to their employment prospects and was demoralizing.

In addition to the lack of knowledge of employment systems, some respondents indicated that they suffered from insufficient knowledge of the employment regulations for international students. For example, one respondent struggled understanding the regulations pertaining to off-campus work permits. That respondent erroneously noted the regulations only allowed him to work 20 hours per week during the summer months. The regulations state that the 20 hour per week limit only applies during the fall session and winter session of the regular academic year; but the limit is 40 hours per week during regular school breaks (e.g., Spring and Summer Sessions, Reading Week, and the holiday break in the latter part of December and early part of January).

#### 5.4.1.1.2 Post-Graduation Employment Experience

Another factor shaping the decisions of students to stay in or leave Saskatchewan is their post-graduation employment experiences. Ease or difficulty in finding employment related to their field of study was a major concern for those who had recently graduated as well as for those approaching graduation.

Of the 11 respondents who had graduated, 5 found work in their field of study, 2 had found work somewhat related to their field of study, 3 had positions unrelated to their field of study, and one intended to pursue post-graduate work in Ottawa (Table 19).

**Table 19: Post-Graduation Employment** 

Responses	<b>Number of Respondents</b>
Found employment in their field of study	5
Found employment partly related to their field of study	2
Found employed unrelated to their field of study	3
Intended to pursue post-graduate academic work	1

**Source**: Survey conducted for this project

Two important observations are in order here. First, and most importantly, the fact that most of these respondents had managed to find work in the province should not lead readers to assume that this is typical or reflective of the majority of those who graduate from Saskatchewan post-secondary institutions. The respondents were available to participate in the project because they had found employment. Many of those who had not been able to find employment likely left the province in search of jobs in other parts of the country, their countries of origin or some other countries with job prospects to which they were admitted as immigrants.

Second, of the respondents who had sought employment after graduation many had found employment related to their field of study or partly related to their field of study, and others had found employment completely unrelated to their field of study. The respondent who intended to pursue post-graduate work outside the province had graduated with a Ph.D. degree. This respondent found it hard to find employment within and outside academia despite having a graduate degree, additional specialized training, publications, and a good record of employment. This student and some of those who had not found employment in their field of study expressed disappointment and frustration with the challenges they faced. There was a perception that in some instances jobs were offered to Canadian applicants who had fewer qualifications or less experience. As expressed by one respondent "I feel that international students are at a disadvantage in finding jobs compared to Canadian students." Some of the international students who were unable to find employment in their field of study in Saskatchewan started seeking job opportunities in Alberta; at least one of these had found a job in that province.

In explaining success in their job search, respondents pointed to the following agencies and programs as having provided them with valuable information, advice or support: the Career Center on campus; SaskJobs; Workopolis; Monster; and the Gradworks program. They also pointed to specific services provided by some agencies either in person or on-line such as job search support and resume writing assistance as being particularly important to their success in securing employment.

#### **5.4.1.2** Spousal Employment Experiences and Prospects

Another significant employment related factor that influenced the settlement decisions of respondents either to stay or leave Saskatchewan was the employment experiences of their spouses. Among participants who had a spouse there was a diversity of answers regarding their employment, place of residence and citizenship.

Of those living in Canada, two indicated their spouses worked in their preferred field, one indicated that the spouse worked at home, and one indicated that the spouse was still looking for work. Two indicated that their spouses were still studying in Canada. One indicated that the spouse was still living in their home country, and one indicated that the spouse was a Canadian citizen (Table 20).

**Table 20: Employment and Residence Status of Spouse** 

<b>Employment and Residence of Spouse</b>	Number of Respondents
Spouse is working in her field	2
Spouse is working while studying	1
Spouse is looking for work	1
Spouse is studying in Canada	2
Spouse is at home with child	1
Spouse is still in home country	1

**Source**: Survey conducted for this project

#### **5.4.1.3 Employment Aspirations**

In addition to being asked regarding their employment experiences during and following their studies, respondents were also asked regarding their employment aspirations. This included the type of employment they preferred and in which sector of the economy they wished to find employment. Differences were evident among respondents regarding their employment aspirations or preferences. Whereas 17 indicated the private for profit-sector as their first choice, 10 indicated the government sector, 4 indicated the cooperative or non-profit sector, and four indicated the university (Table 21).

**Table 21: Preferred Employment Sector** 

<b>Employment Sector Preferred by Respondents</b>	Number of Respondents
Preferred the Private For-Profit Sector 1 <sup>st</sup>	17
Preferred the Government Sector 1 <sup>st</sup>	10
Preferred the Cooperative or Non-Profit Sector 1 <sup>st</sup>	4
Preferred the University Sector 1 <sup>st</sup>	4

**Source**: Survey conducted for this project

# **5.4.1.4** Employment Opportunity Awareness

After stating their employment preferences, participants were probed on how familiar they were with employment opportunities in different economic sectors. Of the 4 sectors identified in the questionnaire (i.e., for-profit, non-profit, cooperative and government) respondents demonstrated the greatest familiarity with the "for-profit" sector followed by the governmental sector and the non-profit sector, and the least familiarity with the cooperative sector. 10 were 'very familiar' with the "for profit" sector, 18 were 'somewhat familiar,' and 5 participants were 'not very familiar' with it. The respondents demonstrated less familiarity with the non-profit and cooperative sector. Only 4 respondents were 'very familiar' with the non-profit sector, 15 were 'somewhat familiar' and 15 were 'not very familiar.' The participants displayed even less familiarity with the co-operative sector as only 2 were 'very familiar,' 8 were 'somewhat familiar' and 24 were 'not very familiar.' Familiarity with the governmental sector fell between the other sectors, as 5 respondents indicated they were 'very familiar,' 17 were 'somewhat familiar' and 12 were 'not very familiar' with the governmental sector (Table 22).

**Table 22: Employment Opportunity Awareness** 

Sector	Very Familiar	Somewhat Familiar	Not Very Familiar
For-Profit	10	18	5
Non-Profit	4	15	15
Cooperative	2	8	24
Government	5	17	12

**Source**: Survey conducted for this project

After stating where they hoped to be employed and their familiarity with the various sectors, respondents were asked to expand on their understanding of the two major sectors of the social economy (i.e. non-profit and cooperative sectors). As was demonstrated in the previous section, few considered these two sectors of the social economy as potential areas of employment or career development options for them.

While many participants were aware of the two sectors of the social economy, 14 had not considered either of them as potential areas of employment and career development. There were 7 respondents who recognized the potential of those two sectors as areas for career development, but indicated that they were not interested in working in these particular sectors. Whereas 4 respondents had not heard of these two sectors and were not interested in learning more about them, 5 respondents who were not familiar with employment and career opportunities in these sectors indicated that they would consider applying for work therein if they were provided with information regarding employment opportunities and conditions in that sector.

Table 23: Social Economy Awareness and Interest

Aware of the social economy and its potential for career development., but did	
not consider it for themselves.	
Aware of the social economy but had not considered the sector as having	14
opportunity for career development.	
Aware of the social economy and would work in it. 2/4 had worked in the social	5
economy for their co-op terms.	
Had not heard of it and was not interested (electronic engineering)	4
Was not aware of the term, but said that if he would have known about	
opportunities at graduation he would have applied for jobs.	

**Source**: Survey conducted for this project

Indeed, the majority of respondents were not aware of the social economy. Some students indicated that they were not very aware of the social economy because they had focused more on academic learning rather than either on learning about that particular component of the economy or on establishing social networks that could provide them with valuable insights into it. It was observed in the interview process that natural science students were less likely to be knowledgeable of the social economy than social science students. Regardless of their awareness very few of the students were aware of the wide range of employment career opportunities in this economic sector.

Generally, international students tended to think relatively narrowly about which economic sector afforded them the greatest opportunities to find either paid employment (salaried and contractual) or volunteer positions that could possibly lead to employment opportunities in the future. Many were unaware or uninterested in different components of the cooperative, non-profit, and volunteer sectors. This was also true of employment opportunities areas directly or indirectly related to their studies, or areas that were not related to their studies at all but still provided interesting and well-compensated career opportunities. One potential explanation for this is that the social economy does not have many job opportunities for students specializing in and seeking positions in scientific and technical fields.

Unfortunately, most international students, like other students, are not adequately aware of the opportunities afforded to them by the various sectors of the social economy. The interviews revealed there was not sufficient understanding that these sectors could provide them with valuable 'gateways' for economic integration. One possible reason for this is that for most of them their social networks were likely to be limited to persons who worked in the for-profit, service and educational sectors. This lack of awareness is a significant impediment to their ability not only to benefit from employment and career opportunities in this sector, but also to their ability to make significant contributions to this sector. Limiting out-migration would be advanced through enhanced awareness of social economy opportunities.

# 5.4.2 AWARENESS, KNOWLEDGE, AND ASSESSMENT OF IMMIGRATION POLICIES AND PROGRAMS

The second major set of factors affecting respondents' decisions regarding post-graduate settlement choices was their awareness, knowledge and assessment of immigration programs. This includes: the Saskatchewan Immigrant Nominee Program (SINP), the Post Graduate Work Program (PGWP), the Federal Skilled Worker Program (FSWP), and the Canadian Experience Class (CEC). This section provides an overview and analysis of the respondents' levels of awareness of different immigration programs, the sources of awareness, and their assessment of accessibility and clarity of information on those programs.

# 5.4.2.1 Awareness of Immigration Policies and Programs

Several respondents had applied or were either in the process of applying, or considering applying to one or more immigration programs. Among these respondents, the highest interest was to apply for the SINP (9), followed by FSWP (7), PGWP (3), and CEC (3). Approximately one third of the respondents (12) were undecided about the immigration program that they would choose. One respondent had already acquired permanent residency through sponsorship by his wife.

Overall the level of awareness of immigration programs amongst respondents was relatively low (Table 24). Across the various programs discussed awareness rates ranged between 33 per cent and 60 per cent. Students in graduate programs, particularly PhD students, exhibited higher levels of awareness of immigration programs. Among the respondents, the highest awareness and knowledge was evident for the SINP (31), the second highest was for the PGWP (29), the third was for the CEC (18) and the fourth was the FSWP (7). One student was not knowledgeable of either the PGWP or CEC and was not interested in remaining in Canada over the long term.

Table 24: Interest in and Awareness of Immigration Program

Immigration Programs	Interest of Applying	Awareness of Program
SINP	9	31
FSWP	7	18
PGWP	3	29
CEC	3	7

Source: Survey conducted for this project

The highest level of awareness was of the SINP; 31 respondents indicated awareness of this program. However, some students, including those who were aware of the SINP, were not aware that they could apply for landed immigrant status under the SINP. More specifically, they were not aware that they could apply for such status within the scope of the SINP's 'Student Category' and its two streams. The first is the Post-Graduation Work Permit Stream for individuals who have graduated with a certificate, diploma, or undergraduate degree and have received the federal Post-Graduation Work Permit. The second is the Master's and PhD stream that does not require a Post-Graduation Work Permit. In particular, they were not aware that the student

category and streams of the SINP outline several criteria for receiving landed immigrant status pursuant to the SINP. Moreover, most were not aware of the following:

- The requirements under the SINP for all applicants to receive bona fide job offers from employers.
- The federal PGWP, a program that was specifically designed for post-graduate students seeking permission to work anywhere in Canada outside the scope of the provincial SINP.
- Their eligibility to apply for the SINP after completing their certificate, diploma or undergraduate degree and receiving their PGWP.

Furthermore, both in the interviews and in presentations related to this research project international students were generally not aware that they were eligible for the provincial Graduate Retention Program (GRP). Only a handful of students indicated that they were aware of the GRP. Of those, most did not know the details related to the eligibility for the program, the application process, or how to access the information regarding the program. During some of the presentations related to this project, students were informed that the information is available at the provincial government website (i.e., <a href="http://www.aeei.gov.sk.ca/grp">http://www.aeei.gov.sk.ca/grp</a>).

# 5.4.2.2 Sources of Awareness of Immigration Policies and Programs

Awareness of the immigration programs came from a variety of sources. The most common source was the respondents' social network. This is because friends and fellow international students exchanged information regarding the immigration programs while socializing. Respondents also cited more traditional sources including government websites and information seminars.

Most respondents who gained knowledge of the SINP did so through their social networks and workshops on campus, and three heard about it through the ISO. Very few students were aware of the PGWP and thus there was little feedback. The one student who had used the program heard about it through friends and had accessed information about it online.

Despite not being designed specifically for students, FSWP drew more <u>interest</u> than the other work and immigration programs. The seven respondents, who indicated that they were interested in it, suggested that a major reason for this is that they felt they had the relevant work experience based on their employment experience in their home country that would likely provide them with more points under the point system.

# **5.4.2.3** Assessment of Immigration Policies and Programs

The respondents' assessments of immigration programs tended to focus on accessibility and clarity of information, the duration of employment to qualify for a visa, processing times and eligibility requirements.

## 5.4.2.3.1 Accessibility and Clarity of Information on Immigration Programs

The accessibility and clarity of information were important factors in shaping student experience with immigration programs. Respondents noted that while government websites present a wealth of information it was sometimes difficult for them to understand. Some respondents also hoped the two levels of government expand upon their web content and demonstrate how to correctly fill out an immigration application. They noted that often the content was written from a domestic paradigm and not from an international one. This was primarily experienced on federal government rather than provincial materials.

The presentation of, and access to, information was a primary concern for participants. They noted that it was easier to access provincial than federal information. One respondent stated that the: "Saskatchewan government has lots of phone numbers where you can talk to actual real people." The federal government's use of automated and voice recorded telephone a system was a point of frustration for respondents who only wished to have a question answered. This caused confusion as to how to properly fill out the application, which in some instances required time-consuming corrections.

# 5.4.2.3.2 Employment Experience Requirements

Respondents indicated that their preferences among immigration programs were influenced by requirements related to the duration and type of employment experience.

The duration of work required to qualify for immigration programs was very important for many respondents. Two respondents commented on the merits of the work requirements under the SINP and the CEC. Both indicated that they preferred the SINP because whereas it only required six months of work, the CEC required one year of continuous employment in the applicant's field of study.

Immigration programs also cause difficulties for international students because of their specific employment requirements. For example, many students interested in the SINP found they could only find part-time or contract-based employment rather than full-time employment. This proved to be problematic because the SINP requires applicants to be employed full-time for six months to qualify for SINP. Several students indicated that they were required to turn down part-time ad contractual job offer because they would not help them with their SINP application. This inability to find full-time employment sometimes acted as a barrier to sustainable employment. Allowing international students to fulfill their requirement of 960 hours of employment through part-time and contractual work would be beneficial not only to students but also to their employers.

# 5.4.2.3.3 Language Requirements of Immigration Policies/Programs

Some criteria related to language competency and the processes for determining the same were also criticized by respondents. This criticism focused primarily on the language requirements under the federal CEC program. One student noted that he had completed a degree at the University of Regina but still had to take a language proficiency test. Moreover, due to the long waiting list in Saskatchewan, the respondent was encouraged to take the test in Calgary or Vancouver. The respondent noted that this was both expensive and time consuming, but necessary to obtain a permanent job and to establish the social networks that could prove valuable for purposes of economic integration.

# 5.4.2.3.4 Application Processes

Respondents also pointed to application processes as problematical in their efforts to acquire some types of immigration visas. Many had encountered such problems, or knew someone who had encountered such problems. At least three types of problems were noted. First, in cases where a portion of an application was not completed correctly, the application form was sent back to applicants rather than simply being contacted them by phone or e-mail to make the correction. Students felt that requiring them to resubmit the form created a significant delay. Two participants who noted that they had already paid approximately \$1,500 for the application expressed dissatisfaction with this particular type of inconvenience. Another criticism was that some students are not informed of the decision on their applications in a more timely fashion. One respondent indicated that only after taking the initiative to phone SINP officials regarding the application, did it become evident that it had been approved at an earlier point in time. Another facet of an immigration application process that concerned at least one student was what was understood to be a requirement to submit the current passport for up to one month to government officials who were reviewing the immigration application. Respondents may have been confused as to what documentation was necessary for each program as requirements differ. The forfeiture of one's passport is not a requirement for every immigration program. The Canadian Experience Class (CEC) and Federal Skilled Workers Program (FSWP) both require applicants to mail their passport to CIC at some point of the application process. However, this is required only if they apply for either of these programs from outside of Canada. The SINP and PGWP do not require the individual to mail their passport to CIC. Whereas the SINP requires a photocopy, the PGWP requires a digital copy.

## 5.4.3 Integration Services

The third major set of factors influencing decisions of respondents regarding post-graduate settlement choices was their experience with various integration services both on- and off-campus. In discussing integration services, international students pointed to those offered by only a few agencies either on-campus or off-campus as most important to them. Generally, the respondents indicated that they used integration services provided by on campus agencies at a higher frequency than those provided by off campus agencies.

## **5.4.3.1 On-Campus Integration Services**

Respondents identified two general categories of service agencies on campus as at the University of Saskatchewan and the University of Regina as important points of contact and sources of assistance. These were the international students' offices (ISO's) and the university career centers. Respondents noted that the ISOs and the career centres were able to address most of their queries.

# 5.4.3.1.1 International Students Offices (ISOs)

Respondents indicated that the accessibility and quality of services offered by ISOs were important in shaping their settlement and integration experiences in Saskatchewan. The main functions of the ISOs are to assist international students with a wide ranging set of settlement support, academic advising, and various types of academic and social networking.

Respondents expressed largely positive views regarding the settlement and integration services of ISOs they had used. In particular, they valued the support that they received in understanding and dealing with important matters where their English language deficiency was a problem.

The ISOs were also used as a source of guidance for dealing many problems. For this reason alone respondents found the ISOs invaluable. One student who had also benefited from an employment experience at one of the ISOs noted that it had been a very "good way of connecting with Saskatchewan, right from the beginning."

Despite the many accolades conferred on the ISOs, some respondents also articulated some criticisms. The most notable criticism was that the ISOs were not always able to provide them with all the information they required. Instead, they merely referred them to potential sources of information. Respondents also noted that they would have benefitted from information being communicated to them in greater detail.

Given the multifaceted nature of ISOs and the multifaceted needs of international students, it is not surprising that they are likely to incur service shortfall in some areas. A related observation by respondents was that it is important for ISOs, and other organizations, to keep in mind that international students are not a homogeneous group and therefore they need different types and levels of information and support.

## 5.4.3.1.2 Career Centres

Many respondents identified career centres on the two university campuses as valuable in assisting them with employment searches, career counselling, resume writing, and preparation for interviews. They indicated that particularly useful were their services in finding job advertisements, career counselling, and guidance in producing resumes. Of the 35 respondents, only 14 indicated that they had used the career center at their respective university. Of these respondents 7 indicated they had accessed it specifically for preparing resumes. In the case of other respondents, 8 indicated they had heard of, but had not used, a career center, 2 indicated they were too focused on their studies to use it, and 5 had never heard of it.

One respondent, who had received help on job market orientation, job search, resume preparation, and interview preparation, described the career centre as the most important service on campus. Many respondents expressed this sentiment. They agreed that the career center's success was a result of its singular focus on career related support.

Nevertheless, despite the singular focus of career centres, some respondents were still confused regarding what they did. One respondent believed the Career Center at his university dealt only with on campus jobs. This led the student not to use the Career Center until late into his studies. Another student who had recently graduated noted that in hindsight she wished she had used the Career Centre to find degree relevant work during the summer months because eventually she realized how important such work would be in finding employment related to her academic training

# **5.4.3.4 Off-Campus Integration Services**

Some respondents also accessed integration services provided by off-campus community-based organizations. Often their services supplemented or complemented those offered at the universities. Respondents who accessed off-campus agencies were generally positive about the integration services offered by off-campus agencies. They noted that an array of agencies existed that provided a wide range of services.

When asked about the existence of such agencies, most pointed primarily to what are commonly referred to as immigrant settlement services agencies, rather than other community based agencies that serve non-immigrants as well as immigrants. Most gravitated to these agencies either because they were referred to them by on-campus agencies, or because persons within their social networks were aware of the existence of such agencies and that they provided some valuable information, programs, services and supports.

Of the off-campus service provider agencies, participants demonstrated the greatest knowledge of the major settlement service agencies. Respondents observed that the services provided by these community based agencies tended to be accessed primarily by married students whose spouses were living with them in Saskatchewan. For most respondents with spouses, off-campus service agencies tended to be more important than on-campus agencies. The settlement service agencies were particularly valuable for accessing language instruction, preparing resumes,

translation in acquiring driver licenses, resume preparation, and dealing with issues related to credential recognition.

Several other types of community-based organizations were utilized by some respondents as integration tools. Three respondents indicated that they had joined sports organizations to strengthen their language abilities while also allowing them to participate in recreational activities in the community. One respondent identified a Christian organization as a place useful for practicing English. Other respondents cited organizations within their ethnic community as places where they could seek assistance.

Despite what can be described as their positive assessment of these off-campus agencies, some noted that the agencies did not provide sufficiently clear information regarding the precise programs and services that each of them provided for students or their spouses. Some students noted that some agencies also tend to draw lines arbitrarily regarding the services they provide for international students as opposed to immigrants and refugees. Some students found it disconcerting that some off-campus programs and services were available to landed immigrants and refugees, but not to them.

# 5.4.4 COMMUNITY PROFILES AND DYNAMICS

The fourth major set of factors influencing decisions of international students to stay in or leave Saskatchewan involved community profiles and dynamics. Particularly important for some in this respect were the size and composition of their respective ethnocultural communities. Some respondents noted that if they stayed in Canada, they were more likely to move to cities such as Vancouver, Calgary, Toronto and Montreal that had larger ethno cultural communities. The participant who wanted to move to a larger city did not mention employment as a factor but instead he liked that Toronto had more people and a faster pace. He also stated that he would like to find a partner who spoke Spanish and there is a larger Spanish speaking population in Toronto. He stated that one always sees "the same people at the Latin American parties in Regina."

Respondents valued ethnocultural communities both because they felt that they contributed to social and economic integration and ultimately to a higher quality of life. Among other things, it would provide social, recreational, religious and culinary benefits that they considered very important for their quality of life. For some respondents finding community was as important and in some instances even more significant than the quality of employment opportunities or career advancement opportunities.

It is important to note, however, that not all respondents believe that economic and social integration and quality of life were contingent on the existence and involvement within their respective ethnocultural communities. Some students noted that a sense of community was found through social interactions with other students from a wide range of racial, ethnocultural and religious background, rather than through their respective ethnocultural community. The small social networks that they developed during their studies were enough to provide them with social integration and a high quality of life. Generally those who articulated this point of view noted that they felt welcome in Saskatoon and that they were comfortable attending events that were not put on by their respective ethnocultural community.

## 5.4.5 Family Situations and Opportunities

The fifth major set of factors that affected the international students' settlement and integration experiences and ultimately their decisions on whether to stay in or leave Saskatchewan was their family situations and opportunities for members of their families. Particularly important for them in this regard were several considerations related to the needs and preferences of various members of their families, but most notably their spouses, children, parents, and fiancées.

Some of those with spouses noted that their preference to stay in the province was quite closely linked to the employment opportunities, social networks and social relations available to their spouses.

Some of those with very young children indicated that access to good and affordable daycare was very important. Similarly, some of those with older children indicated that the quality of life that those children would experience at school and in the community would also be a key factor in their decision either to stay in or leave Saskatchewan. Those who were inclined to stay suggested that the major cities in Saskatchewan were good places to raise their children because they provided good access to good services and programs, and did not present the same types of problems or challenges commonly experienced in, or attributed to, larger cities. Factors such as low population density, clean air and the relatively low cost of living when compared to some of the largest cities in Canada were also cited as important in their decision to stay in Saskatchewan. Surprisingly, most respondents regarded the cold winter weather as only a minor detraction from what in many other respects was deemed to be a relatively good quality of life for their families.

Some of those with parents or fiancés in their home countries were more likely to consider leaving Saskatchewan and either return to those countries, or move to other provinces in Canada. Whereas some of those who were thinking of moving to their home countries did so because they believed that their parents or fiancés were unlikely to be admitted to Canada, others indicated that even if they were admitted they would likely find it much more difficult to achieve an adequate level of economic or social integration in Saskatchewan cities than in cities in British Columbia and Alberta with more and larger ethnocultural communities. Clearly their decisions regarding where to live and work after graduation were heavily affected by considerations related to familial factors, and the ability of all members of their families being able to achieve economic and social integration that included solid and substantial inter-personal relationships.

# 6. OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The various parts of this report reveal that the policies, programs and services related to International Students have been evolving quite quickly during the past decade. They also reveal that notwithstanding many positive directions and initiatives in such policies, programs and services, some improvements are required for the dual purpose of ensuring:

- (a) that international students have even more positive learning, living and working experiences while studying at post-secondary institutions; and
- (b) that more international students who can make a positive contribution to Saskatchewan's provincial economy and society will choose this province as the place to work and live.

This section provides some recommendations for improving Saskatchewan's standing as an attractive site for international students to study, work, and live in Canada. The recommendations cover the following areas that have been noted as important by the respondents:

- employment opportunities and experiences
- immigration policies and programs
- integration programs and services
- community demographic profiles and dynamics
- family situations and opportunities

In addition to the recommendations contained below, readers of this report should review the recommendations contained in various other reports cited herein, but particularly the reports produced by the Canadian Bureau of International Education (CBIE. 2008), Conference Board of Canada (CBO, 1999, 2009), the Council of Ministers of Education of Canada (COF, 2010), the Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada in collaboration with several other associations of post-secondary education (AUCC et al., and Ontario Undergraduate Student Alliance (OUSA, 2010).

## 6.1 IMPROVE EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES FOR STUDENTS

Respondents repeatedly emphasized the importance of employment in shaping their decisions regarding post-graduate settlement. Many felt underserved and unconfident in approaching employment. As one participant stated: "the biggest problem I hear from students is that they need work experience and it can be a very nerve wracking process to find jobs after graduation." A range of factors was identified as barriers to success in labour markets, particularly lack of networks, language barriers and lack of information. Further assisting of international students in navigating the labour market must be a major pillar of retention strategies.

# 6.1.1 Increase Employment Search Support for Students

# (a) Observation(s)

Students need more assistance in finding and in understanding information related to jobs and careers from the ISOs and university career centres. As one respondent stated: "You cannot just tell students what the opportunities are – without showing them the way... because everything is

so new." Moreover, respondents expressed the challenges that they and other students faced in understanding some information. In the words of one respondent: "You go to the career center and you don't really know what you are asking—if it is not in the language that you really understand it is difficult."

## (b) Recommendation(s)

The university ISOs and career centres should provide more direct assistance targeted at the specific needs of international students who may need some additional assistance with finding information regarding specific job opportunities and careers.

Special efforts should be made to ensure that information regarding job opportunities and careers is presented both in written and oral forms in ways that can be understood more easily by international students.

# 6.1.2 Expand Opportunities To Meet Work Requirements for Immigration Programs

#### (a) Observation(s)

International students need more opportunities to help them fulfill the work requirements for various federal and provincial immigration programs.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Special efforts should be made to help international students fulfill their work requirements for their immigration programs. Towards that end, special efforts should be made to expand employment opportunities for international students, or at least to assist international students in finding and securing existing opportunities These should include employment opportunities that they can hold on full time, part time, and contractual basis either during or after they complete their studies.

## 6.1.3 Expand Co-op and Internship Opportunities

## (a) Observation(s)

Co-op and internship programs are very valuable in creating important work experiences for international students. The expansion of co-op and internship programs will increase the likelihood of participation by international students. They also create the social networks that some international students do not have.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Special efforts should be made to expand the co-op and internship programs at postsecondary institutions that will facilitate and increase the participation of international students.

# 6.1.4 Expand Career Guidance and Mentorship Programs

## (a) Observation(s)

International students expressed lack of confidence in searching for employment, in contacting potential employers, and in job interview situations. They expressed the need for guidance and mentoring regarding these matters as they attempt to find employment both during their studies and after completing their studies.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Establish guidance and mentorship programs designed to help international students become more comfortable and competent in searching for employment, contacting employers, and conducting themselves in job interviews.

# 6.1.5 Develop Networking Skills and Opportunities

## (a) Observation(s)

International students indicated that they did not have extensive networks that would facilitate their search for and their ability to secure employment, and that they did not have the skills to establish and utilize such networks in Saskatchewan.

# (b) Recommendation(s)

Post-secondary institutions and/or other agencies involved in providing settlement and integration services to international students or members of their families should provide networking skills workshops to enhance their skills in establishing and utilizing networks that may be useful in searching for and securing employment.

## 6.2 IMPROVE IMMIGRATION POLICIES, PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

Respondents raised numerous concerns regarding different aspects of immigration policies and programs that would be usefully addressed as part of the province's international students retention strategy.

# 6.2.1 Improve Presentation of Information on Immigration Policies, Programs and Processes

## (a) Observation(s)

Respondents expressed concern with the intelligibility of information provided to international students on immigration policies and programs. Many found the written information regarding the immigration application processes complex and confusing. Some also indicated that they found it difficult to comprehend some technical issues regarding immigration policies, programs and application and approval processes when explained to them orally. The difficulties were not simply due to language problems, but also to the fact that the students are not very familiar with Canadian jurisdictional and organizational frameworks.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Information materials regarding immigration policies and programs should be written in ways that can be understood much more easily by international students. Similarly, oral explanations of immigration policies, programs and the application and approval processes should be tailored to make them more intelligible to international students.

# 6.2.2 Increase Knowledge of Immigration Policies, Programs and Processes Within on-Campus Agencies

## (a) Observation(s)

Some students noted that key student services agencies on campus agencies (i.e., ISOs and UCCs) do not always have enough staff members on duty with extensive expertise about immigration policies, programs and processes. Even if there are some staff members with that expertise, they do not necessarily deal with all student requests themselves. Consequently, not all students benefit equally from the expertise that exists in those offices.

# (b) Recommendation(s)

Student services agencies on campus should have staff members available on a regular basis who can answer questions regarding immigration policies and programs. It would be particularly useful if those staff members had extensive and direct knowledge of the criteria and application processes for various programs. Student services agencies and federal and provincial government agencies should collaborate in improving immigration information and application support systems for international students.

# 6.2.3 Improve Modes of Providing Information and Support Services On-Campus

#### (a) Observation(s)

Respondents expressed concern that the current information and support systems related to immigration policies and programs are inadequate. They indicated there was too much reliance on providing information through brochures, websites and automated telephone systems, and on agencies and officials located off-campus. They added that this was not always adequate in answering their questions or in understanding what they had to do and how they should do it.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Federal and provincial immigration officers should make themselves available on campuses on a regular basis to meet in person with international students either in groups or individually to provide them:

- with important information and to answer their questions regarding immigration policies and programs, and
- with guidance and support in dealing with important issues related to immigration policies and programs.

# 6.2.4 Simplify and Expedite Permanent Resident Status Process

## (a) Observation(s)

Respondents indicated that there are too many steps for students to become permanent residents. One student stated: "I have been here for six years and I still do not have the right to work where I want" (this was a PGWP problem). Graduate students stated the immigration programs should be altered to make it easier for them to acquire permanent resident status. One respondent stated that graduate students should not have to graduate before being able to apply for permanent resident status. This is considered very important because, in the words of one student: "If they don't have permanent resident status they don't know what will happen" to them not only in terms of acquiring such status, but also in terms of where they will live and work after they graduate.

# (b) Recommendation(s)

Review the application systems, especially the criteria, for international students to acquire permanent resident status in an effort to simplify them and to expedite their applications.

# 6.2.5 Simplify, Clarify and Reconcile Immigration Policies and Programs

## (a) Observation(s)

The division of powers for immigration creates some confusion and administrative problems. International students are not well versed in the division of authority between the national and provincial governments. Thus, they face challenges in understanding different immigration programs and requirements.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Special initiatives should be undertaken to ensure that international students are aware of the differences between national and provincial immigration programs, and that the application processes are simplified, clarified, and reconciled. Every effort should be made to provide students with the requisite support to deal with the application processes both for federal and provincial immigration programs either through a 'single window' or at least through separate windows either in a 'co-location' or 'close locations', or possibly through a single web portal.

# 6.2.6 Improve Access to Contractual Work for SINP Requirement

## (a) Observation(s)

Students indicated that the post-graduation work requirement to qualify for the SINP is unduly restrictive because it is very difficult for them to get full time work, part time work, and in some instances even short-term contracts that are quite common in today's labour market.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

The SINP policy should be changed in the following ways to facilitate the ability of international students to quality for the SINP:

- ,reducing the length of full time employment required to even less than six months and/or replacing the number of months with number of hours; and
- counting short-term contractual work as sufficient in meeting the employment criteria under the SINP.

# 6.2.7 Reduce Work Requirement under the CEC

## (a) Observation(s)

Respondents also indicated that the work requirement to quality for the federal CEC program is also unduly restrictive. More specifically, they found the one year of employment much too difficult to achieve given how hard it was for them to find and secure work.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

**CEC** policies should be changed in the following ways:

- Facilitate the ability of international students to quality for the CEC by, among other things, reducing the length of employment required from one year to less than six months; and
- Count short-term contractual work as sufficient in meeting the employment criteria under the CEC.

## 6.3 IMPROVE INTEGRATION POLICIES, PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

Several recommendations emerge from participant responses and concerns regarding the following matters: employment services, language services, assistance with immigration processes, and housing.

# 6.3.1 Improve Availability and Clarity of Information on Programs and Services

# (a) Observation(s)

Respondents expressed confusion regarding the integration programs and services available to them. One of the common problems cited was the lack of readily available and clear information on settlement and integration programs and services provided by various agencies on-campus and off-campus. In the words of one respondent: "It seems that there are 'secret programs'

available; if you know someone you can find a program, but if you don't know people you don't know about it."

## (b) Recommendation(s)

The availability and clarity of information regarding services provided by various agencies both on-campus and in the community should be improved. Among other things, there should be a brochure and website that identifies the organizations and programs that exist to help students and their spouses. The content of such a brochure and website should be constructed very carefully to make them very "user-friendly" and very clear for international students. Such a brochure and website should be perfectly clear regarding what services are available, which organizations provide them, and who is eligible to access them.

# 6.3.2 Improve Coordination Between On- Campus and Off-Campus Agencies

# (a) Observation(s)

Some respondents pointed to what they viewed as a "gap" and insufficient coordination between on-campus and off-campus agencies in designing and delivering programs and services for international students and their spouses. They noted that on-campus agencies did not have sufficient programming for spouses, off-campus agencies did not have sufficient programming for either students or their spouses, and neither on-campus nor off-campus agencies had sufficient programming in which both students and spouses could participate in together.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Improve coordination between on-campus and off-campus agencies in the provision of programs and services for international students and their spouses. In addition to the type of programs offered for by various agencies, attention should be devoted to the relative merits of programs and services that are offered (a) only to international students, (b) only to their spouses, and (c) jointly to international students and their spouses.

# 6.3.3 Expand On-Campus ESL Services

#### (a) Observation(s)

International students noted that insufficient language fluency or clarity is a barrier to successful integration for some international students. Their language capacities also affect their decision to remain in, or to leave, Saskatchewan. They also noted that the international student offices and career centers on their respective campuses have been good at assisting them with some challenges they face in light of their language deficiencies. However, many students who were not confident in their language abilities expressed concern about the effect it would have on their career prospects after they graduate. To help them overcome language deficiencies, they suggested that more ESL training should be provided to international students and their spouses both on-campus and off-campus.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Existing policies and programs related to ESL training for international students should be reviewed and possibly reformed. Some attention should also be devoted to the policies and programs related to ESL training for the spouses of international students. Part of that review should include an analysis of TOEFL scores as indicators of the extent to which students are likely to be successful (with and without ESL training) not only in their academic programs, but also in starting careers immediately after graduating.

# 6.3.4 Establish Canadian Studies Certificate for International Students

## (a) Observation(s)

International students come to Saskatchewan study various disciplines. In part, however, they come here to learn about Canada. Learning various things about Canada and Saskatchewan within and beyond the scope of their primary area of academic specialization would be useful for them regardless of whether they remain in Saskatchewan, move elsewhere in Canada, or leave the country. The knowledge they would acquire from pursuing courses within the scope of the certificate in Canadian Studies will increase not only their awareness of and engender interest in Canada, but also their ability to integrate economically and socially. Such certification that is clearly and officially recognized by the post-secondary institutions would benefit students immensely.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Post-secondary institutions should consider establishing Canadian Studies Certificate Programs. Such certificate programs should consist of course based and experiential learning that would help international students become more knowledgeable about various aspects of Canada. Such certificate programs should be promoted extensively among international students. Such certificate programs should be recognized officially in documentation regarding their academic training and achievements at the post-secondary institutions.

## 6.3.5 Improve Housing Assistance

# (a) Observation(s)

Housing concerns were identified as a major issue of successful integration for international students. In the words of one respondent: "once you find a place to live everything is smoother after that." Another respondent told a story regarding a misunderstanding on her part as to whether she had to reapply for residence after her first year of living there. She thought her initial application guaranteed her a place in residence for the duration of her studies at the university. By the time she realized that she had to reapply, the application deadline had passed and all the rooms had been rented. For several days she was very worried about whether she would be able to find any affordable and safe place to stay in the city. Fortunately the ISO was able to help her find such a place.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Consideration should be given to the following matters:

- Producing an information package that explains what they can expect at the university and in the city related to various important matters, including housing options, costs, and regulations. The information package should be distributed to all international students either prior to or upon arrival.
- Developing and maintaining housing registries and housing search support services for international students.
- Ensuring there are clusters of housing units both on and off campus available for international students and students born in Canada so they are living in close proximity to each other in ways that will make it possible for them to interact and socialize, share important information, and support each other in dealing with various academic and non-academic matters.

# 6.3.6 Improve Homestay Programs

## (a) Observation(s)

Two students reported that they had negative experiences with their hosts in the Homestay Program offered in conjunction with the ESL program. More specifically, they noted that the home environment was not very hospitable or friendly. Examples of this were the insufficiency of food and unreasonable restrictions on showering.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Homestay programs offered in conjunction with the ESL program should have the following: adequate screening of potential hosts; adequate orientation of those selected to be hosts to acceptable and unacceptable standards for hosting; adequate orientation of students to what they can expect in homestay situations; and adequate monitoring of the homestay situations to ensure that both students and hosts are satisfied with the arrangements and relationship.

# 6.4 Enhance Number, Size, Vibrancy of Ethnocultural Communities

Saskatchewan's limited number, size, and vibrancy of ethnocultural communities was cited as a reason by some students for choosing to leave the province. Some students felt that the existence of and involvement in such communities was important for them, their spouses, their children and any parents or siblings they hoped would join them in Canada someday. A related factor what some described as very limited sets of social networks, too much 'social distance" or insufficient 'social warmth'. These expectations and hopes are not easy to address, but best efforts on a continuing basis to improve these situations at least through incremental changes are required in a few areas.

# 6.4.1 Increase the Number, Size, Vibrancy and Profile of Ethnocultural Communities

## (a) Observation(s)

Some students noted the absence of a critical mass of members of their respective ethnocultural communities in Saskatchewan, and that valued elements of their respective cultures (e.g., ethnoculturally based social, recreational and religious infrastructure and programming) were either absent or at least limited.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Special efforts should be made to enhance the number, size, vibrancy and profile of ethnocultural communities through the immigration and multiculturalism policies and programs. Toward that end, special efforts should be made to build upon and expand the multicultural population base, the multicultural nature of commercial and community services and activities (e.g., stores, restaurants, arts, sports, recreation, etc.). All such efforts should devote attention to the needs, interests or preferences of international students, as well as those of immigrants and non-immigrants who are already well established in their respective communities.

# 6.4.2 Improve Awareness Among International Students of Ethnocultural Communities

# (a) Observation(s)

Comments and observations made by international students suggest that they were not very aware of the existing ethnocultural communities in the cities and other communities in the province.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Special efforts should be made to increase awareness among international students of the existing ethnocultural communities in Saskatchewan. This could take many different forms and may require more systematic partnerships between university agencies serving international students and proactive leaders of ethnocultural associations and communities.

# 6.4.3 Improve Opportunities for International Students to Connect with Ethnocultural Communities

## (a) Observation(s)

Comments and observations made by international students suggest that even if they were aware that ethnocultural communities existed in the cities and other communities in the province, they were unable to connect with them and to link up with social or occupational networks within them.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Special efforts should be made to increase opportunities for international students to connect with existing ethnocultural groups and for them to link up with existing social and occupational networks within them. This could take many different forms including:

- establishing more partnerships between university agencies serving international students and proactive leaders of ethnocultural associations and communities;
- identifying existing types of spaces, events and activities on-campus and off-campus that would contribute to facilitating such connections, and establish any additional ones that may be required; and
- exploring ways that the internet could be used in fostering and sustaining such connections.

## 6.5 IMPROVE FAMILY SITUATION AND OPPORTUNITIES

Several respondents cited proximity to and opportunities for their family members as a factor that influences their decisions either to stay in Saskatchewan or to return to their country of origin.

# 6.5.1 Assist Spouses and Children of International Students in Canada

## (a) Observation(s)

Some respondents noted that attention should be devoted to the needs of spouses and children of international students. Among the key needs noted were the following:

- those of their spouses for language training, access to education programs, and access to employment; those of their very young children to good and affordable daycare service; and
- those of their older children to educational, social and recreational activities that would contribute to a positive experience during their stay in the province.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Special efforts should be made to identify and meet the needs of spouses or international students for language training, access to education programs, and access to employment; those of their very young children to good and affordable daycare service

Special efforts should be made to identify the needs of the older children of international students for older children to educational, social and recreational activities that would contribute to a positive experience during their stay in the province.

# 6.5.2 Facilitate Student Sponsorship of Family Members

## (a) Observation(s)

Several participants cited working and living close to their family as a reason for returning to their home country after completing their studies. This can be attributed to many factors, not the least of which is their belief that it would be difficult for members of their family (especially

their spouses, children, and parents) to be granted permanent resident status to live in Canada within a reasonable length of time, if at all.

Initiatives to facilitate family reunification in the province would likely contribute substantially to the retention of international students. Ultimately, of course, in addition to sustaining important family ties, it would also contribute to the establishment and/or sustainability of ethnocultural communities that, in turn, would also contribute to attracting and retaining other prospective immigrants.

## (b) Recommendation(s)

Special efforts should be made to do the following:

- undertake a special policy and program review to examine the opportunities and obstacles of international students in sponsoring family members (i.e., spouses, children, parents, siblings, and possibly even fiancés);
- ensure that the sponsorship requirements do not present unduly restrictive or burdensome for international students with viable employment who are trying to sponsor family members through provincial or federal programs; and
- ensure that international students who are able to secure employment in Saskatchewan receive adequate assistance to sponsor members of their family to immigrate to Canada either through the provincial or federal immigration programs.

The foregoing observations and recommendations, along with those articulated in other reports, should be considered carefully by various stakeholders within the educational system in making choices regarding strategic directions and actions. All stakeholders have a role and responsibility in making choices regarding strategic directions and actions, because they all have a stake, individually and collectively, for the effective management of this important program area that has significant implications for individuals, institutions, communities and economies

# APPENDIX A: QUESTIONNAIRES

PART I: QUESTIONNAIRE FOR INDIVIDUALS

1. What is your gender?
[ ] Male [ ] Female
2. What is your age?
3. What is your country of origin?
4. How long have you studied in Canada?
5. What type of degree/certificate program are you registered?(eg: Bachelors, Graduate)
6. What academic program were you enrolled in?
7. Have you worked <b>on campus</b> while studying?
[ ] Yes [ ] No
8. Have you worked <b>off campus</b> while studying?
[ ] Yes [ ] No
9. If so what sectors have you worked in?
[ ] University (i.e. teaching, research, student assistant)
[ ] Government Sector (i.e. City of Saskatoon)
[ ] For-Profit Sector (i.e. private company, restaurant)
[ ] Non-Profit Sector (i.e. Settlement agency – Open Door, International Development agency)
10. What immigration, employment or international student services are you aware of <b>on</b> campus?
Have you used any of these services?
Trave you used any of these services.
[ ] Yes [ ] No
If <b>YES</b> , which one of these have you used (s)?
11 125, which one of these have you used (5):
11. What immigration, employment or international student services are you aware of <u>off</u> -campus (in Saskatoon, Regina or other places in Saskatchewan)?

Have you used any of these s	services?	
[]Yes []N	Jo	
If <b>YES</b> , which one of	f these have you used?	
employment? (ran [ ] Private Se [ ] Governme	owing sectors are you most nk from highest interest to lector nt Sector ve and Non-Profit Sector	interested in finding lowest interest)
finding employmer [ ] Private Se [ ] Governme	nt: (rank from highest interestor ent Sector ve and Non-Profit Sector	is your spouse most interested in est to lowest interest)
	you and/or your spouse with	h employment opportunities in
the for-profit sect  [ ] Very Familiar	[ ] Somewhat Familiar	[ ] Not Very Familiar
13.2 How familiar are the non-profit sector [] Very Familiar		h employment opportunities in  [ ] Not Very Familiar
13.3 How familiar are the cooperative see		h employment opportunities in
-	[ ] Somewhat Familiar	[ ] Not Very Familiar
13.4 How familiar are the government se		h employment opportunities in
[] Very Familiar	[ ] Somewhat Familiar	[ ] Not Very Familiar

# PART II: QUESTIONNAIRE FOR FOCUS GROUPS

# 1. Plans to Stay or Not Stay in Saskatchewan/Canada

- 1.1 What are your plans in the short term and long term regarding where you will work and live?
- 1.2 Why have you chosen OR not chosen to stay in Saskatchewan/Canada?
- 1.3 What factors are influencing your decisions on where to live and work?

# 2. Knowledge of Immigration Programs

- 2.1 What is your knowledge and understanding of the Post-Graduate Work Program?
- 2.2. What is your knowledge and understanding of the Saskatchewan Immigrant Nominee Program and the Canadian Experience Class?
- 2.3 What has been your experience with accessing information of these Immigration Programs?
- 2.3 If you are choosing to stay in Saskatchewan/Canada which immigration program will you be applying under? Why have you made this particular choice?

# 3. Experiences with Support Services for Immigration and Integration

3.1 What have been your experiences with the support services <u>on-</u> and <u>off-</u>campus for social/community integration?

**Probing questions**: What have been your best experiences with these services? What have been your worst experiences?

## 4. Employment Experiences of Student and Spouse

- 4.1 What does employment mean to you and your spouse?
- 4.2 What does career development mean to you and your spouse?
- 4.3 What is your and your spouses' understanding of the social economy sector for employment and career development? By social economy sector, we mean non-profit, cooperative and community-based organizations.
- 4.4 What have you and your spouse done in terms of advancing your career and seeking employment?
- 4.5 What has been your experience with finding employment opportunities and using employment support services?
- 4.6 What were your employment experiences while studying and/or immediately after graduation?
- 4.7 What has been your spouses' experience with finding employment opportunities and using employment support services?
- 4.8 What were your spouses' employment experiences while studying and/or immediately after graduation?
- 4.9 What do you think you and your spouse's employment prospects are?

# 5. Improvements

- 5.1 What improvements could be made to programs and services help to you and your spouse decide to stay in Saskatchewan? Who do you think can make these improvements?
- 5.2 What improvements could be made to programs and services to help you and your spouse decide to develop your career and find employment in Saskatchewan? Who do you think can make these improvements?
- (<u>Prods would include mentioning these different sectors</u>: university, community and cooperative agencies, non-profit agencies, for-profit companies, or the government).
- 5.3 Whose responsibility is it in your opinion to support your and your spouse with immigration related questions and needs?

# 6. Other Comments or Suggestions

6.1 Do you have any other comments or suggestions regarding what has to be improved to help international students decide to stay in Saskatchewan?

# **APPENDIX B: IMMIGRATION PROGRAMS REQUIREMENTS**

# 1. SASKATCHEWAN IMMIGRANT NOMINEE PROGRAM (SINP)

http://www.saskimmigrationcanada.ca/sin

The Saskatchewan Immigrant Nominee Program (SINP) can provide an alternate and quicker means of entry into Canada. It allows Saskatchewan to nominate applicants, who qualify under criteria established by the province, to the federal government for landed immigrant status. The SINP offers:

- The ability to select applicants whose skills and abilities best fit the province's needs;
- Application processing times that are faster than other federal immigration classes; and
- Assistance from Provincial Immigration Officers who are readily available to explain program requirements and processes.

## What You Need to Know about Using Immigration Representatives

You do **not** need to hire an immigration representative/consultant to apply to the SINP. However, if you wish to engage the services of an immigration representative or consultant, you should note that:

- Immigration representatives usually charge money for their services to applicants.
- Your application will not be given special attention and your immigration representative/consultant cannot guarantee that your application will be approved.
- No immigration consultant has an immigrant quota from the Province of Saskatchewan.
- The SINP does not engage the exclusive services of any agencies or representatives.
- The SINP provides all the forms and information you will need to complete your application for free on this website.

<u>Learn more</u> about how to choose a licensed, reputable and trustworthy representative and how to protect yourself from scams and immigration fraud.

## Students

This category allows students who have graduated from a recognized, post-secondary educational institution in Canada to apply for landed immigrant status under the SINP. It is divided into two subcategories:

- Post-Graduate Work Permit Stream and
- Master's and PHD Graduate Stream

The Student Category allows eligible post-secondary graduates to apply for landed immigrant status under the SINP. There are two streams of the Student Category: the Post-Graduation Work Permit Stream and the Master's and PhD Graduate Stream.

# **Eligibility**

#### Post-Graduation Work Permit Stream

You may qualify to apply under the SINP Student Category: Post-Graduation Work Permit Stream if:

- 1. You have graduated with a certificate, diploma or degree from a recognized post-secondary educational institution in Canada. The program must have been equivalent to at least one academic year (eight months) of full-time study.
- You have worked for at least six months (with minimum 960 hours) of paid employment in
   Saskatchewan. Eligible types of work experience in Saskatchewan include on-campus, off-campus, co-op terms, graduate fellowships that can be verified by your institution, and work experience gained on a post-graduate work permit.
- 3. You have applied for and received a post-graduation work permit from Citizenship and Immigration Canada (CIC).
- 4. You have a current, permanent, full-time job offer from a Saskatchewan employer. The job offer does not have to relate to your studies.

#### Master's and PhD Graduate Stream

You may qualify to apply under the SINP Student Category: Master's and PhD Graduate Stream if:

- 1. You have completed all degree requirements for an existing Master's and/or PhD program that required at least one academic year of full-time study from the University of Saskatchewan or the University of Regina.
- 2. You are applying within two years of the date on which your degree was granted and from a country in which you have legal status.
- 3. You intend to live in Saskatchewan and are able to demonstrate your ability to settle and work in Saskatchewan with at least one of the following:
- Have at least six months of employment history in your field of training in Saskatchewan;
- Are currently employed in your field of training or have received a job offer in your field of training in Saskatchewan for a term longer than six months;
- Your spouse is currently employed in Saskatchewan in a permanent, full-time position; or,
- You have enough money to sustain for a short time without work (\$10,000 for you and \$2,000 for each accompanying family member).

## 2. FEDERAL POST GRADUATE WORK PERMIT

Work permits for students: Working after graduation—Who can apply

http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/study/work-postgrad-who.asp

To obtain a work permit after your graduation, you must meet the following requirements:

- You must have studied **full time** in Canada and you must have completed a program of study that lasted at least eight months.
- If in your last semester of study you are registered as a part-time student because you only need a few courses to graduate, but you have been studying full-time during your studies, you are eligible to apply for a Post-Graduation Work Permit.
- In addition, you must have graduated from:
  - a public post-secondary institution, such as a college, trade/technical school, university or CEGEP (in Quebec), or
  - a private post-secondary institution that operates under the same rules and regulations as public
    institutions, and receives at least 50 percent of its financing for its overall operations from
    government grants (currently only private college-level educational institutions in Quebec
    qualify), or
  - Canadian private institution authorized by provincial statute to confer degrees but only if you are
    enrolled in one of the programs of study leading to a degree as authorized by the province
    and not in all programs of study offered by the private institution.
- You must apply for a work permit within 90 days of receiving written confirmation (for example, a transcript or an official letter) from your institution indicating that you have met the requirements for completing your academic program.
- You must have completed and passed the program of study and received a notification that you are eligible to obtain your degree, diploma or certificate.
- You must have a valid study permit when you apply for the work permit.

## Impact of length of program of study in Canada and the length of the work permit

A Post-Graduation Work Permit cannot be valid longer than the official length of your program of study in Canada. For example, students graduating from a four-year degree program might be eligible for a three-year year work permit. Students graduating from an eight-month certificate program would only be eligible for a work permit of eight months.

If the official length of your program of study is	Then
Less than eight months	You are not eligible for this program
Less than two years but more than eight months	You may get a work permit for a period no longer than the length of your program of study (for example, if you studied for nine months, a work permit may be issued for a period of nine months)
Two years or more	A work permit may be issued for three years

## You are not eligible for the Post-Graduation Work Permit Program if you:

- Study in a program that is less than eight months long
- Participate in a Canadian Commonwealth Scholarship Program funded by the Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade (DFAIT)
- Participate in a Government of Canada Awards Program funded by DFAIT
- Receive funding from the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA)
- Participate in the Equal Opportunity Scholarship, Canada-Chile
- Participate in the Canada-China Scholars Exchanges Program
- Participate in the Organization of American States Fellowships Program
- Participate in a distance learning program either from abroad or from within Canada or
- Have previously been issued a Post-Graduation Work Permit following any other program of study.

## Studying in Canada: Work permits for students—Working after graduation

If you want to work in Canada after you graduate from your studies, you must apply for a work permit under the Post-Graduation Work Permit Program.

#### **Post-Graduation Work Permit Program**

The Post-Graduation Work Permit Program allows students who have graduated from a participating Canadian post-secondary institution to gain valuable Canadian work experience.

A work permit under the Post-Graduation Work Permit Program cannot be valid for longer than the student's study program. For example, if you graduate from a four-year degree program, you could be eligible for a three-year work permit if you meet the criteria. If you graduate from an eight-month certificate program, you would be eligible for a work permit that is valid for no more than eight months.

## 3. FEDERAL CANADIAN EXPERIENCE CLASS

If you are a temporary foreign worker or a foreign student who graduated in Canada, you often have the qualities to make a successful transition from temporary to permanent residence. You are familiar with Canadian society and can contribute to the Canadian economy. You should have knowledge of English or French and qualifying work experience.

Applying to stay in Canada permanently in your case is simple. You can do this under the Canadian Experience Class. All the guides, information and forms you need to apply are included here.

Before you apply, make sure you get to know the requirements and current application procedures. After you apply, make sure you return to this website to find out about the steps that follow.

**You must meet these minimum requirements** to apply for permanent residence under the Canadian Experience Class. You must:

- Plan to live outside the province of Quebec
- Be either:
  - o a temporary foreign worker with at least two years of full-time (or equivalent) skilled work experience in Canada, or
  - o a foreign graduate from a Canadian post-secondary institution with at least one year of full-time (or equivalent) skilled work experience in Canada
- Have gained your experience in Canada with the proper work or study authorization
- Apply while working in Canada or within one year of leaving your job in Canada
- Include the results of an independent language test (from an agency designated by CIC) with your application

According to the Canadian National Occupational Classification (NOC), skilled work experience means:

- Skill Type 0 (managerial occupations) or
- Skill Level A (professional occupations) or
- Skill Level B (technical occupations and skilled trades)

Your application will be assessed on two requirements if you apply as a temporary foreign worker:

- Your work experience and
- Your ability in English or French.

If you apply as a graduate of a Canadian post-secondary educational institution with Canadian work experience, it will be assessed using the above requirements, as well as:

• Your education.

#### Principal applicant

If you are married or living with a common-law partner in Canada, and she/he also meets the above requirements, you can decide which one of you will apply for the Canadian Experience Class as a principal applicant.

## 4. FEDERAL SKILLED WORKER PROGRAM

Skilled workers are people who are selected as permanent residents based on their ability to become economically established in Canada.

Federal skilled worker applications are assessed for eligibility according to the criteria set out below.

# For your application to be eligible for processing, you must:

- include the results of your official language proficiency test, AND
- have a valid offer of arranged employment, **OR**
- have one year of continuous full-time paid work experience in at least one of the occupations listed here.

# Work experience minimum requirements

If your application is eligible for processing, it will then be assessed against minimum requirements.

Your work experience must be:

- for at least one year, continuous, and paid (full-time or the equivalent in part-time), AND
- Skill Type 0 (managerial occupations) or Skill Level A (professional occupations) or B
  (technical occupations and skilled trades) on the Canadian <u>National Occupational</u>
  Classification (NOC) list, AND
- within the last 10 years.

# If you meet the above minimum requirements, your application will be processed according to the six selection factors in the skilled worker points grid, which are:

- vour education
- your abilities in English and/or French, Canada's two official languages
- your work experience
- your age
- whether you have arranged employment in Canada, and
- your adaptability.

You must also show that you have enough money to support yourself and your dependants after you arrive in Canada.

# **APPENDIX C: SASKATCHEWAN GRADUATE RETENTION PROGRAM**

(Check following website for updates: http://www.aeei.gov.sk.ca/grp)

# **Graduate Retention Program (GRP)**

# What is the Graduate Retention Program?

Saskatchewan is thriving and opportunities for graduates have never been brighter. The Graduate Retention Program rewards you for building your future in Saskatchewan by providing a rebate up to \$20,000 of tuition fees paid by eligible graduates who live in Saskatchewan and who file a Saskatchewan income tax return.

The Graduate Retention Program became effective January 1, 2008.

The program has been expanded to include graduates from across the country and beyond who pursue their careers in Saskatchewan!

From 2000-2007, the Government of Saskatchewan had two previous graduate tax benefit programs for graduates from post-secondary programs.

# Who is eligible?

You are eligible if:

- you graduated from an approved program after January 1, 2006;
- · you already live in Saskatchewan; or
- · you are moving to Saskatchewan.

#### An approved program must:

- be equivalent to at least six months of full-time study at an eligible institution;
- · result in a certificate, diploma, or undergraduate degree; or,
- · provide journeypersons certification.

PLEASE NOTE: If you graduated in 2006 or 2007 with a certificate, diploma, undergraduate degree or journeypersons certificate and previously received the GTE, please ensure we have your most current address as we may need to contact you to gather additional information prior to issuing a GRP certificate.

#### How do I claim my rebate?

As an eligible graduate, you will be issued a GRP certificate by the Ministry of Advanced Education, Employment and Immigration to be submitted along with the amount of tuition paid when filing your Saskatchewan income tax.

## How do I apply?

- Graduates of Saskatchewan post-secondary institutions
- Graduates of post-secondary institutions outside of Saskatchewan

NOTE: If you wish to have a third party request information pertaining to your graduate tax benefit on your behalf, the following Consent to Release Information form must be completed and faxed or mailed to Student Financial Assistance Branch.

Consent to Release Information - Graduate Tax Benefit Programs

# How will my tuition rebate be calculated?

Your rebate will be based on the actual tuition you paid as indicated on the T2202A tax receipts issued by your post-secondary institution - up to the maximum tuition rebate amount you are eligible for based on your program.

For examples of unique situations (ie. more than one credential, more than one institution attended) see Scenarios or check out Frequently asked Questions and Answers, or contact us directly.



## Calculate your potential GRP amount.

**NOTE:** The calculator is for estimation purposes only and represents potential rebate amounts you may be eligible for based on the information you have submitted.

## **Contact Us**

Telephone	1.800.597.8278 toll-free; 306.787.5620 in the Regina area or outside Canada
Fax:	306.787.1608
Mail Address:	Graduate Retention Program Student Financial Assistance Branch 200 – 3303 Hillsdale Street REGINA SK S4S 6P4
Email:	SFAWEB@gov.sk.ca

# APPENDIX D: SASKATCHEWAN GRADUATE TAX BENEFIT PROGRAMS

(Check following website for updates: http://www.aeei.gov.sk.ca/graduatetaxbenefit)

# **Graduate Tax Benefit Programs (GTE/GTC)**

From 2000-2007, the Government of Saskatchewan had two previous graduate tax benefit programs for graduates from post-secondary programs.

The new Graduate Retention Program initiative became effective January 1, 2008.

## Graduates from 2000-2006: The Post-Secondary Graduate Tax Credit (GTC)

The Post-Secondary Graduate Tax Credit is a one-time tax credit that graduates and journeypersons may apply against their Saskatchewan Income Tax. The tax credit amount is dependent on the year of graduation and any unused credit may be carried forward for up to four years.

Year of Graduation	Tax Credit Amount
2000-2003	\$350
2004	\$500
2005	\$675
2006	\$850

# **Graduates from 2006-2007: Graduate Tax Exemption (GTE)**

The Graduate Tax Exemption will provide a \$10,000 exemption from Saskatchewan Income Tax for the 2007 taxation year. Graduates who earn a lower income in 2007 can carry over the unused exemption for an additional five years.

The Information below applies to both the Graduate Tax Credit and Graduate Tax Exemption Programs.

## Who is Eligible?

Post-secondary graduates from approved programs from 2000-2007 are eligible if their training:

- · Results in a certificate, diploma, or degree; or
- Provides certification to journeypersons or a proficiency certificate (where applicable); and
- Is the equivalent of at least six months in length of full-time study.

Students who graduated from an eligible out-of province program and are living and working in Saskatchewan may also be eligible.

Both programs apply to the graduate only and cannot be transferred to another person including parents or spouses.

# **Information for 2006 Graduates Only**

2006 graduates are eligible for both the Graduate Tax Credit and the Graduate Tax Exemption. The same eligibility criteria applies to both programs, however you must complete both a Graduate Tax Credit application form and a Graduate Tax Exemption application form.

# **How to Apply**

Some Saskatchewan post-secondary institutions may have applied to the Government of Saskatchewan on behalf of graduates who provided their consent. If you believe your educational institution may have applied on your behalf but have not received either the **Graduate Tax Credit** or **Graduate Tax Exemption**, please contact our office to confirm that your application was received.

Graduates whose educational institutions did not apply on their behalf who wish to receive either the **Graduate Tax Credit** or the **Graduate Tax Exemption** must apply directly to the Government of Saskatchewan. The government will then issue a certificate to be filed with the graduates' income tax.

Graduates must confirm that they graduated from an eligible program of study by including a copy of the following with their application for either program:

- · Transcript; or
- · Certificate, degree, diploma; or
- Journeyperson certification or proficiency certificate (where applicable).

## **Application Forms**

Please complete the corresponding application form to your year of graduation:

Year of Graduation	Application Form
2000-2005	Graduate Tax Credit Application
2006	Graduate Tax Credit Application Graduate Tax Exemption Application
2007	Graduate Tax Exemption Application

Reminder: 2006 graduates must complete both application forms to receive both benefits!

## Claiming the Tax Benefit

To claim either the **Graduate Tax Credit** or **Graduate Tax Exemption**, graduates will need to file the certificate issued by the Government of Saskatchewan with their Saskatchewan Income Tax for the taxation year in which they graduated.

Graduates who have already filed their Saskatchewan Income Tax return for the year they graduated may be required to have their taxes reassessed by the Canada Revenue Agency for the taxation year in which they graduated to claim the benefit.

Both programs apply to the graduate only and cannot be transferred to another person including parents or spouses.

## **Contact Us**

Telephone	1-800-597-8278 toll-free (306) 787-5620 in the Regina area or outside Canada
Fax	(306) 787-1608
Mail Address	Advanced Education, Employment & Immigration Student Financial Assistance Branch 200 - 3303 Hillsdale Street Regina, SK S4S 6P4
Email	SFAWEB@gov.sk.ca

#### REFERENCES

Alboim, Naomi. (2010). From International Students to Permanent Residents: Permanent Residents: Some Considerations Presentation to Symposium hosted by World Education Services, November 2010http://www.wes.org/ca/events/NaomiAlboim.pdf

Assailly, Kim. (2012). Evolution of Saskatchewan's Recruitment, Employment and Immigration Policies for International Students within the Context of Canadian Federalism. M.A thesis, Department of Political Studies, University of Saskatchewan. <a href="http://ecommons.usask.ca/handle/10388/ETD-2012-03-392">http://ecommons.usask.ca/handle/10388/ETD-2012-03-392</a>

Association of Universities and Colleges in Canada, et al., (AUCC et. al.). (2004). *Sharing Quality Higher Education Across Borders: A Checklist for Good Practice*. http://www.aucc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/crossborder\_checklist\_e1.pdf

Australia. (2010a). Department of Immigration and Citizenship. *Students and General Skilled Migration*. www.immi.gov.au/students/students-gsm.htm

Australia. (2010b). Department of Immigration and Citizenship . *Graduate Skilled Temporary Visas*. 2010. www.immi.gov.au/allforms/pdf/1187i.pdf

Australia. (2010c). Department of Immigration and Citizenship. *Australian General Skilled Migration Booklet*. 2010. www.immi.gov.au/allforms/booklets/1119.pdf

Australia. (2010d). Department of Immigration and Citizenship. *Student Visa Assessment Levels*. www.immi.gov.au/students/student-visa-assessment-levels.htm

British Columbia (BC). (2006). "Economic Impact of International Education at Public Post-Secondary Institutions," BC Ministry of Advanced Education. Prepared for the Accountability Branch Ministry of Advanced Education by Roslyn Kunin & Associates, Inc. (RKA, Inc.). http://www.aved.gov.bc.ca/publications/docs/int-ed-report060405.pdf

Cameron, Arla. (2009). "Saskatchewan: Sustaining Economic Momentum Through Immigration." *Metropolis: Our Diverse Cities - The Prairies*, 2009: 37-40.

Cameron, James D.(2006). "International Student Integration Into the Canadian University: Post World War Two Historical Case Study." *History of Intellectual Culture*, 6, no. 1 (2006): 18.

Canada. (2004a). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. "Canada and Saskatchewan announce pilot project for foreign students." *News Release*. Ottawa, May 6, 2004. http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/department/media/releases/2004/0409-pre.asp

Canada. (2004b) Citizenship and Immigration Canada. *Studying in Canada: A Guide for Foreign Students*. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services, 2004.

Canada. (2005a). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. *Canada-Saskatchewan Immigration Agreement*. Ottawa: Government of Canada. June 1, 2005.

http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/department/media/releases/2005/0515-e.asp

Canada. (2005b). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. "More reasons for international students to choose Canada." *News Release*. April 15, 2005.

http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/department/media/releases/2005/0512-e.asp

Canada. (2006a). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. "Off-campus work permit program launched." *News Release*. April 27, 2006.

http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/department/media/releases/2006/0601-e.asp

Canada. (2006b). Citizenship and Immigration Canada "Backgrounder – Work Programs for Foreign Students." *Backgrounder*. April 2006

http://www.cic.gc.ca/english//department/media/backgrounders/2006/2006-04-27.asp - tphp idtphp

Canada. (2008a). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. *Facts and Figures 2008 (DVD)*. 'CIC Digital Library' (Ottawa: Government of Canada, 2008).

Canada. (2008b). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. "Government of Canada introduces changes to work permit for international students, making Canada more attractive for skilled individuals." *News Release*. April 21, 2008.

http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/department/media/releases/2008/2008-04-21.asp

Canada. (2008c). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. "The Proposed Canadian Experience Class." *Backgrounder*. August 12, 2008.

http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/department/media/backgrounders/2008/2008-08-12.asp

Canada. (2008d). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. "Government of Canada makes it easier for international students to apply to work off-campus." *News Release*. September 3, 2008. http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/department/media/releases/2008/2008-09-03a.asp

Canada. (2009a). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. *Annual Report to Parliament on Immigration*. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada, 2009. http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/publications/annual-report2009/

Canada. (2009b). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. *Study in Canada: Visas, Work and Immigration for International Students*. Ottawa: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada, 2009.

http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/resources/publications/study.asp

Canada. (2009c). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. *Studying in Canada: Work Permit for Students-Working After Graduation*. December 15, 2009. http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/study/work-postgrad.asp Canada. (2009d). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. *Study in Canada: Choose Canada*, 2009. http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/study/index.asp

Canada. (2009e). Foreign Affairs and International Trade Canada. *International Education Promotion: About Us.* May 19, 2009. <a href="http://www.international.gc.ca/education/about\_us">http://www.international.gc.ca/education/about\_us</a> a\_notre\_sujet.aspx?lang=eng.

Canada. (2009f). *Economic Impact of International Education in Canada: Final Report*. Prepared for Foreign Affairs and International Trade Canada by Kunin, Roslyn and Associates (RKA, Inc.)

http://www.international.gc.ca/education/assets/pdfs/RKA IntEd Report eng.pdf

Canada. (2010a). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. *Studying in Canada: Work Permits for Students- Working Off Campus*. June 3, 2010. www.cic.gc.ca/english/study/work-offcampus.asp

Canada. (2010b). Citizenship and Immigration Canada. *Backgrounders-Changes to Federal Skilled Worker and Investor Immigration Programs*. June 26, 2010. www.cic.gc.ca/english/department/media/backgrounders/2010-06-26c.asp#tphp%20idtphp

Canada. (2010c). *Economic Impact of International Education in Canada*. Foreign Affairs and International Trade Canada. February 16, 2010. http://www.international.gc.ca/education/impact.aspx?lang=eng

Canadian Bureau for International Education (CBIE). (2007). *Northern Lights: International Graduates of Canadian Institutions and the National Workforce*. Ottawa: CBIE, 2007 http://www.cbie-bcei.ca/media-centre/publications

Canadian Bureau for International Education (CBIE). (2009). *Canada First: A 2009 Survey of International Students*. Ottawa: CBIE, 2009. <a href="http://www.cbie-bcei.ca/media-centre/publications">http://www.cbie-bcei.ca/media-centre/publications</a>

Conference Board of Canada (CBOC). (1999). The Economic Implications of International Education for Canada and Nine Comparator Countries: A Comparison of International Education Activities and Economic Performance. Prepared For Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade.

Conference Board of Canada (CBOC). (2008). Renewing Immigration: Towards a Convergence and Consolidation of Canada's Immigration Policies and Systems. Conference Board of Canada, 2008.

Council of Ministers of Education Canada (CMEC). (2010). *Imagine Education au/in Canada – Brand Use Guidelines: Home.* June 7, 2010. http://imagine.cmec.ca/en/

Council of the Federation (COF). (2011). Bringing Education in Canada to the World, Bringing the World to Canada: An International Education Marketing Action Plan for Provinces and

*Territories* (A Response to the Council of the Federation from Provincial and Territorial Ministers of Education and of Immigration). June 2011 http://www.cmec.ca/Publications/Lists/Publications/Attachments/264/COF\_Bringing\_Ed\_to\_Ca nada Eng final.pdf

Council on Foreign Relations. (CFR). (2009). *U.S. Immigration Policy. Independent Task Force Report No.63*. <a href="http://www.cfr.org/immigration/us-immigration-policy/p20030">http://www.cfr.org/immigration/us-immigration-policy/p20030</a>

Kennedy, Alison. (2010). *Global Trends in Student Mobility*. UNESCO Institute for Statistics Presentation to Symposium hosted by World Education Services (Toronto, 4 November 2010) http://www.wes.org/ca/events/KENNEDY\_StudentMobility.pdf

Manitoba. (2010). *International Students/Immigrate to Manitoba*. www2.immigratemanitoba.com/browse/howtoimmigrate/pnp/pnp-students.html

Marginson, Simon. (2007). "Global Position and Position Taking: The Case of Australia." *Journal of Studies in International Education* (Association of Studies in International Education) 11, no. 5 (2007): 5-32.

Ontario. (2009). Opportunities Ontario: Provincial Nominee Program: International Student Category. www.ontarioimmigration.ca/en/pnp/OIPNPSTUDENTS.html

Ontario Undergraduate Student Alliance (OUSA). (2010). *Policy Paper International Students. November 2010* 

http://www.ousa.ca/dev/wp-content/uploads/2010/12/International-Students.pdf

Peykov, Pavel. (2004). "Immigrant Skilled Workers: Should Canada Attract More Foreign Students?" *Public Policy Paper*, University of Regina, The Saskatchewan Institute of Public Policy, 2004.

Saskatchewan (2003). *Open up Saskatchewan*. Regina: Government of Saskatchewan. http://www.saskatoon.ca/DEPARTMENTS/Community%20Services/Communitydevelopment/D ocuments/open up sk.pdf

Saskatchewan. (2004).. "Saskatchewan Expanding Immigration Program." *News Release*. Advanced Education Employment and Labour. Regina: Government of Saskatchewan, May 6, 2004.http://www.gov.sk.ca/news?newsId=870fb7f5-13f1-4bfa-9049-d9bd5c9a8c16

Saskatchewan. (2006). "International Students Can Now Work Off-Campus." *News Release*. Advanced Education Employment and Labour. Regina: Government of Saskatchewan, April 27, 2006. http://www.gov.sk.ca/news?newsId=3f72f508-d88e-47df-a5e3-0550ff8c0c57

Saskatchewan. (2008a). "\$20K Graduate Retention Program Launched." *News Release*. Advanced Education Employment, Immigration and Labour. Regina: Government of Saskatchewan. May 21, 2008.

http://www.gov.sk.ca/news?newsId=674d82e0-7c8c-4b65-b2a4-40cc0e79dbdd

Saskatchewan. (2008b). "\$20K Graduate Retention Program Expanded." *News Release*. Regina: Government of Saskatchewan. October 30, 2008. http://www.gov.sk.ca/news?newsId=2e89a2c8-b3eb-46be-b011-2289523ddf9e

Saskatchewan. (2008c). "Changes to Immigration for International Students." *News Release*. Advanced Education Employment, Immigration and Labour. Regina: Government of Saskatchewan. November 18, 2008. http://www.gov.sk.ca/news?newsId=aec7fb0c-e337-4b03-9926-4f8acd313722

Saskatchewan. (2009a). Saskatchewan's Immigration Strategy: Strengthening our Communities and Economies. Advanced Education Employment, Immigration and Labour. Regina: Government of Saskatchewan, 2009. http://www.aeel.gov.sk.ca/sk-immigration-strategy-brochure

Saskatchewan. (2009b). *International Students – Applications, Nominations and Processing Times*. Advanced Education Employment, Immigration and Labour. (Regina: Government of Saskatchewan, 2009)

Saskatchewan. (2010a). "Province Increases Opportunities for International Education." *News Release*. Advanced Education Employment, Immigration and Labour. Regina: Government of Saskatchewan, April 29, 2010. http://www.gov.sk.ca/news?newsId=b8f98493-34dd-4295-916f-8f8455c82c8a

Saskatchewan. (2010b). "Provincial International Education Council." *Media Backgrounder*. Advanced Education Employment, Immigration and Labour. Regina: Government of Saskatchewan. April 29, 2010.

United States. (2010a) USCIC- Application for Employment Authorization. Citizenship and Immigration Services. June 18, 2010. www.uscis.gov

United States. (2010b). USCIS- Questions and Answers: Extension of Optional Practical Training Program for Qualified Students. Citizenship and Immigration Services. www.uscis.gov.

United States. (2010c). "Student Visas." *Travel.State.Gov.* Department of State. http://travel.state.gov/visa/temp/types/types\_1268.html

World Education Services (WES). (2010). *International Student Migration Fact Sheet. Symposium on International Students: The New Skilled Migrants.* http://www.wes.org/ca/events/FactSheet.pdf

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS COMMUNITY-UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE FOR SOCIAL RESEARCH

- Allan, Nancy, & Michael Gertler. (2006). Remaking the Links: Fair Trade for Local and Global Community Development. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Amankwah, Dinah. (2003). *Integrative Wraparound (IWRAP) Process Training*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Avis, Kyla, & Angela Bowen. (2004). *Postpartum Depression Support Program Evaluation*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Banks, Christopher. (2003). *The Cost of Homophobia: Literature Review on the Human Impact of Homophobia on Canada*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- ———. (2004). The Co\$t of Homophobia: Literature Review on the Economic Impact of Homophobia on Canada. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Basualdo, Maria, & Chipo Kangayi. (2010). *Cypress Hills Abilities Centres, Inc: Exploring Alternatives. A Research Report.* Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Berntson, Ron. (2003). *Peer Victimization Experiences in High School.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Bidonde, Julia. (2006). Experiencing the Saskatoon YWCA Crisis Shelter: Residents' Views.

  Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research. Please contact Clara Bayliss at the YWCA at 244-7034, ext. 121 or at info@ywcasaskatoon.com for copies of this report.
- Bidonde, Julia, & Catherine Leviten-Reid. (2011). "A Place to Learn, Work, and Heal": An Evaluation of Crocus Co-operative. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research.

- Bidonde, Julia, Mark Brown, Catherine Leviten-Reid, & Erin Nicolas. (2012). *Health in the Communities of Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation: An Exploratory Study*. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Bowditch, Joanne. (2003). *Inventory of Hunger Programs in Saskatoon*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Bowen, Angela. (2004). *Healthy Mother Healthy Baby: Program Logic Model and Evaluability Assessment*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Brown, K., I. Findlay, & R. Dobrohoczki (2011). *Community Resilience, Adaptation, and Innovation: The Case of the Social Economy in LaRonge.* Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Brownlee, Marilyn, & N. Chopin. (2009) *Evaluation Report: Snapshot of Collaborative Processes*. Saskatoon: Saskatoon Regional Intersectoral Committee and Community-University Institute for Social Research. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Chambers-Richards, Tamara, Rawia Ahmed, & Isobel M. Findlay. (2014). *Parkinson Society Saskatchewan: Working Together to Meet Member Needs—A Research Report.*Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Chopin, N., S. Hogg, S. McHenry, J. Popham, M. Stoops, S. Takahashi, & I.M. Findlay. (2012). Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder Awareness and Prevention Strategies: Learning from the Reported Alcohol Knowledge and Behaviours of College-Age Youth A Research Report. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Chopin, Nichola, Bill Holden, Nazeem Muhajarine, & James Popham. (2010). *Ten Years of Quality of Life in Saskatoon: Summary of Research 2010 Iteration.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Chopin, N., & I. Findlay. (2010). Exploring Key Informants' Experiences with Self-Directed Funding: A Research Report. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research
- Chopin, N., & S. Wormith. (2008) *Count of Saskatoon Homeless Population: Research Findings.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research
- CUISR. (2001). Proceedings of the Prairie Urban Congress 2001. With support from Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, City of Saskatoon, GE Capital Mortgage & Insurance Canada, Government of Canada, Saskatchewan Housing Corporation, and Western Economic Diversification Canada. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- ———. (2002). Partnerships for a Healthy Sustainable Community: CUISR Present and Future. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- ———. (2003). "We Did It Together": Low-Income Mothers Working Towards a Healthier Community. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.

- ———. (2004). *Building Community Together: CUISR Present and Future.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- ———. (2004). CUISR at the Crossroads: Strategic Planning Session, June 23, 2004. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- ———. (2010). 2009 Saskatoon HIFIS Report on Homelessness. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Daniel, Ben. (2006). Evaluation of the YWCA Emergency Crisis Shelter: Staff and Stakeholder Perspectives. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research. Please contact Clara Bayliss at the YWCA at 244-7034, ext. 121 or at info@ywcasaskatoon.com for copies of this report.
- Diamantopoulos, Mitch, & April Bourgeois. (2014). Worker Co-operative Development: Problems, Prospects, and Proposals. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research
- Diamantopoulos, Mitch, & Isobel M. Findlay. (2007). *Growing Pains: Social Enterprise in Saskatoon's Core Neighbourhoods*. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research
- Dozar, Marsha, Don Gallant, Judy Hannah, Emily Hurd, Jason Newberry, Ken Pike, & Brian Salisbury. (2012). *Individualized Funding: A Framework for Effective Implementation*. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Drechsler, Coralee. (2003). Influencing Poverty Reduction Policy through Research Evidence: Immigrant Women's Experience in Saskatoon. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Dressler, Mary Pat (2004). Aboriginal Women Share Their Stories in an Outreach Diabetes Education Program. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Dunning, Heather. (2004). A Mixed Method Approach to Quality of Life in Saskatoon. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Dyck, Carmen. (2004). "Off Welfare...Now What?": A Literature Review on the Impact of Provincial Welfare to Work Training Programs in Saskatchewan. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- ———. (2005). "Off Welfare ... Now What?": Phase II, Part 2: Analysis. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Elliott, Patricia W. (2011). *Participatory Action Research: Challenges, Complications, and Opportunities.* Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Engler-Stringer, Rachel. (2006). *Collective Kitchens in Three Canadian Cities: Impacts on the Lives of Participants*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.

- Engler-Stringer, R., & J. Harder. (2011). *Toward Implementation of the Saskatoon Food Charter: A Report.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research
- Evitts, Trina, Nazeem Muhajarine, & Debbie Pushor. (2005). Full-Time Kindergarten in Battlefords School Division #118 Community Schools. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Fernandes, Neville. (2003). Saskatchewan's Regional Economic Development Authorities: A Background Document. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Fillingham, Jennifer. (2006). SEN-CUISR Environmental Charitable Organization Feasibility Study, Phase Two. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Findlay, Isobel M., Bill Holden, Giselle Patrick, & Stephen Wormith. (2013). Saskatoon's Homeless Population 2012: A Research Report. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Findlay, Isobel M., & Anar Damji. (2013). Self-Directed Funding: An Evaluation of Self-Managed Contracts in Saskatchewan. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research and Centre for the Study of Co-operatives.
- Findlay, Isobel M., Julia Bidonde, Maria Basualdo, & Alyssa McMurtry. (2009). South Bay Park Rangers Employment Project for Persons Living with a Disability: A Case Study in Individual Empowerment and Community Interdependence. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research and Centre for the Study of Co-operatives.
- Findlay, Isobel M., James Popham, Patrick Ince, & Sarah Takahashi. (2013). *Through the Eyes of Women: What a Co-operative Can Mean in Supporting Women during Confinement and Integration*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research and Centre for the Study of Co-operatives.
- Garcea, Joe, and Neil Hibbert. (2014). *International Students in Saskatchewan: Policies, Programs, and Perspectives.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research and Centre for the Study of Co-operatives.
- Gauley, Marg. (2006). Evaluation of Respectful Conflict Resolution and Peer Mediation Program. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Gold, Jenny. (2004). *Profile of an Inter-Sectoral Issue: Children Not in School.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Grosso, Paula. (2003). *Uprooting Poverty and Planting Seeds for Social Change: The Roots of Poverty Project.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Grosso, Paula, & Jodi Crewe. (2004). *Project Greenhorn: Community Gardening.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Harlingten, Leora. (2004). Saskatoon Charging and Disposition Patterns Under Section 213 of the Criminal Code of Canada. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.

- Heit, Jason. (2012). Mapping Social Capital in a Network of Community Development Organizations: The South West Centre for Entrepreneurial Development Organizational Network. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Henry, Carol J., Carol Vandale, Susan Whiting, Flo Woods, Shawna Berenbaum, & Adrian Blunt. (2006). *Breakfast/Snack Programs in Saskatchewan Elementary Schools:*Evaluating Benefits, Barriers, and Essential Skills. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Hurd, E., & Clarke, L. (2014). Awareness of and Support for Social Economy in Saskatoon: Opinion Leader Views. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Hurd, Emily. (2012). *Community Conversations about the Good Food Junction Co-operative*. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Jackson, Maureen. (2004). *Closer to Home: Child and Family Poverty in Saskatoon.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Janzen, Bonnie. (2003). An Evaluation of the Federation of Canadian Municipalities Quality of Life Reporting System. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Jonker, Peter, Colleen Whitedeer, & Diane McDonald. (2005). Building Capacity of Fond du Lac Entrepreneurs to Establish and Operate Local Tourism Business: Assessment and Proposed Training. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Kachur, Brittany. (2014). *Urban First Nations, Inuit, and Metis Diabetes Prevention Project: Fresh Food Market Evaluation*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Kelsey, Melissa V. (2004). *Determining Saskatoon's Value Profile*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Klymyshyn, Sherry, & Lee Everts. (2007). Evaluation of Saskatoon Community Clinic Group Program for "At Risk" Elderly. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Kynoch, Bev. (2003). The Brightwater Environmental and Science Project: Respecting Traditional Ecological Knowledge — The Soul of a Tribal People. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Li, Song. (2004). *Direct Care Personnel Recruitment, Retention and Orientation*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Lisoway, Amanda. (2004). 211 Saskatchewan Situational Analysis. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Lynch, Karen, & Isobel M. Findlay. (2007). A New Vision for Saskatchewan: Changing Lives

- and Systems through Individualized Funding for People with Intellectual Disabilities A Research Report. Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Lynch, Karen, Cara Spence, & Isobel M. Findlay. (2007). *Urban Aboriginal Strategy Funding Database: A Research Report.* Saskatoon: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives and Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- MacDermott, Wendy. (2003). *Child Poverty in Canada, Saskatchewan, and Saskatoon: A Literature Review and the Voices of the People.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- ———. (2004). Youth ... on the Brink of Success. Youth Addictions Project. Saskatoon: Crime Prevention — Community Mobilization and Community-University Institute for Social Research..
- ———. (2004). Common Functional Assessment and Disability-Related Agencies and Departments in Saskatoon. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- ———. (2004). Evaluation of the Activities of the Working Group to Stop the Sexual Exploitation of Children. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- McDowell, Megan, and Isobel M. Findlay. (2014). *Healthy Seniors on the 'Net: Assessing the Saskatoon Public Library's Computer Project.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- McRae, Stacy, & Keith Walker. (2007). An Evaluation of Family to Family Ties: A Review of Family Mentorship in Action. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Moneo, Cameron, Maria Basualdo, Isobel M. Findlay, & Wendy MacDermott. (2008). Broadway Theatre Membership Assessment. A Research Report. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Muhajarine, Nazeem, Stacey McHenry, Jethro Cheng, James Popham, and Fleur MacQueen-Smith. (2013). *Phase One Evaluation: Improving Outcomes for Children with FASD in Foster Care: Final Report.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research and Saskatchewan Population Health and Evaluation Research Unit..
- Muhajarine, Nazeem, Maureen Horn, Jody Glacken, Trina Evitts, Debbie Pushor, and Brian Keegan. (2007). Full-Time Kindergarten in Saskatchewan, Part One: An Evaluation Framework for Saskatchewan Full-Time Kindergarten Programs. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Muhajarine, Nazeem, Trina Evitts, Maureen Horn, Jody Glacken, and Debbie Pushor. (2007). Full-Time Kindergarten in Saskatchewan, Part Two: An Evaluation of Full-Time Kindergarten Programs in Three School Divisions. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.

- Ofosuhene, Maxwell. (2003). Saskatchewan River Basin-Wide Survey of Residents' Attitudes Towards Water Resources and the Environment. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Olfert, Sandi. (2003). *Quality of Life Leisure Indicators*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Pattison, D., and I. Findlay. (2010). Self-Determination in Action: The Entrepreneurship of the Northern Saskatchewan Trapper's Association Co-operative. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research and Centre for the Study of Co-operatives.
- Prokop, Shelley Thomas. (2009). *Program Evaluation of the Saskatoon Community Clinic:*Strengthening the Circle Program. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Propp, A.J. (Jim). (2005). Preschool: As Essential As Food. An Effectiveness Review of the Saskatoon Preschool Foundation Tuition Subsidy Program. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Quaife, Terra, Laurissa Fauchoux, David Mykota, & Isobel M. Findlay. (2014). *Program Evaluation of Crisis Management Services*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Quinlan, Elizabeth, Ally Clarke, & Natasha Miller. (2013). Coordinating and Enhancing Care and Advocacy for Sexual Assault Survivors: New Collaborations and New Approaches. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Radloff, Karla. (2006). Community Resilience, Community Economic Development, and Saskatchewan Economic Developers. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Reed, Maureen. (2003). Situating Indicators of Social Well-Being in Rural Saskatchewan Communities. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Roberts, Claire. (2006). *Refugee Women and Their Postpartum Experiences*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Ruby, Tabassum. (2004). *Immigrant Muslim Women and the Hijab: Sites of Struggle in Crafting and Negotiating Identities in Canada*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Sanderson, K. (2005). *Partnering to Build Capacity and Connections in the Community*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Sanderson, Kim, Michael Gertler, Diane Martz, & Ramesh Mahabir. (2005). Farmers'

  Markets in North America: A Literature Review. Saskatoon: Community-University
  Institute for Social Research.
- Schmidt, Heather, Cynthia Chataway, Patrick Derocher, Jeff McCallum, & Yolanda McCallum. (2006). *Understanding the Strengths of the Indigenous Communities: Flying Dust First Nation Focus Group Report*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.

- Seguin, Maureen. (2006). Alberta Mentoring Partnerships: Overview and Recommendations to Saskatoon Mentoring Agencies. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Sinclair, Raven, & Sherri Pooyak (2007). *Aboriginal Mentoring in Saskatoon: A Cultural Perspective.* Saskatoon: Indigenous Peoples' Health Research Centre in collaboration with Big Brothers Big Sisters of Saskatoon and the Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Sivajohanathan, Duvaraga, Isobel M. Findlay, & Renata Andres, 2014. *Parent Resources for Information, Development, and Education: Pre-Service Evaluation A Research Report.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Soles, Kama. (2003). Affordable, Accessible Housing Needs Assessment at the North Saskatchewan Independent Living Centre. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Spence, Cara, & Isobel M. Findlay. (2007). *Evaluation of Saskatoon Urban Aboriginal Strategy: A Research Report*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Stadnyk, Nadia, Nazeem Muhajarine, & Tammy J. Butler. (2005). *The Impact of KidsFirst Saskatoon Home Visiting Program in Families' Lives*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Sun, Yinshe. (2005). *Development of Neighbourhood Quality-of-Life Indicators.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Tannis, Derek. (2005). *Mentoring in Saskatoon: Toward a Meaningful Partnership.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Tupone, Juliano. (2003). *The Core Neighbourhood Youth Co-op: A Review and Long-Term Strategy*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Victor, Janice. (2011). Report to the Saskatoon Regional Intersectoral Committee: The Middle Ring Evaluation. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Waikar, Rahul, Suresh Kalagnanam, & Isobel M. Findlay. (2013). Financial Proxies for Social Return on Investment Analyses in Saskatchewan: A Research Report. Saskatoon:

  Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Williams, Alison, with Sylvia Abonyi, Heather Dunning, Tracey Carr, Bill Holden, Ron Labonte, Nazeem Muhajarine, & Jim Randall. (2001). *Achieving a Healthy, Sustainable Community: Quality of Life in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. Research Summary.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Wohlgemuth, Nicole R. (2004). *School Fees in Saskatoon*. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.
- Woods, Florence. (2003). *Access to Food in Saskatoon's Core Neighborhood.* Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.

Wright, Judith, and Nazeem Muhajarine. (2003). Respiratory Illness in Saskatoon Infants: The Impact of Housing and Neighbourhood Characteristics. Saskatoon: Community-University Institute for Social Research.

To order from the list on pages 65–73, please contact: Community-University Institute for Social Research R.J.D. Williams Building 432 – 221 Cumberland Avenue Saskatoon SK Canada S7N 1M3 Phone: (306) 966–2136 / Fax: (306) 966–2122

E-mail: cuisr.liaison@usask.ca Website: www/usask.ca/cuisr

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS CENTRE FOR THE STUDY OF CO-OPERATIVES

#### **Occasional Papers Series**

(Occasional papers are 8 1/2 x 11 format; most are available on our website)

- 2014 Historical Retrospective on the Conversion and Multinationalization of Dakota Growers Pasta Company: A Critical Discourse Analysis. Thomas Gray, Curt Stofferahn, and Patricia Hipple (112pp. \$15)
- 2011 Models for Effective Credit Union Governance: Maintaining Community Connections following a Merger. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown (82pp. \$15)
- The Impact of Retail Co-operative Amalgamations in Western Canada. Lou Hammond Ketilson, Roger Herman, and Dwayne Pattison (100pp. \$15)
- 2009 Financing Aboriginal Enterprise Development: The Potential of Using Co-operative Models. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown (104pp. \$15)
- 2008 The Agriculture of the Middle Initiative: Premobilizing Considerations and Formal Co-operative Structure. Thomas W. Gray (54pp. \$12)
- 2007 Social Cohesion through Market Democratization: Alleviating Legitimation Deficits through Co-operation. Rob Dobrohoczki (68pp. \$10)
- 2006 Data Collection in the Co-operative Sector and Other Business Statistics in Canada and the United States. Angela Wagner and Cristine de Clercy (224pp. \$25)
- The Case of the Saint-Camille Care and Services Solidarity Co-operative and Its Impact on Social Cohesion. Geneviève Langlois, with the collaboration of Patrick De Bortoli and under the guidance of Jean-Pierre Girard and Benoît Lévesque (96pp. \$10)
- 2005 "Canada's Co-operative Province": Individualism and Mutualism in a Settler Society, 1905–2005. Brett Fairbairn (76pp. \$10)
- 2004 Negotiating Synergies: A Study in Multiparty Conflict Resolution. Marj Benson (408pp. \$35)

- 2003 Co-operatives and Farmers in the New Agriculture. Murray Fulton and Kim Sanderson (60pp. \$10)
- 2002 Conflict, Co-operation, and Culture: A Study in Multiparty Negotiations. Marj Benson (242pp. \$25)
- 2002 Adult Educators in Co-operative Development: Agents of Change. Brenda Stefanson (102pp. \$12)
- 2001 "An Educational Institute of Untold Value": The Evolution of the Co-operative College of Canada, 1953–1987. Jodi Crewe (66pp. \$10)
- 1999 The Components of Online Education: Higher Education on the Internet. Byron Henderson (78pp. \$12)
- 1998 Co-operative Organization in Rural Canada and the Agricultural Co-operative Movement in China: A Comparison. Zhu Shufang and Leonard P. Apedaile (56pp. \$10)
- 1996 Comparative Financial Performance Analysis of Canadian Co-operatives, Investor-Owned Firms, and Industry Norms. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (152pp. \$12)
- 1994 Credit Unions and Caisses Populaires: Background, Market Characteristics, and Future Development. J.T. Zinger (26pp. \$6)
- 1994 The Meaning of Rochdale: The Rochdale Pioneers and the Co-operative Principles. Brett Fairbairn (62pp. \$10)
- 1993 The Co-operative Movement: An International View. S.K. Saxena (20pp. \$6)
- 1992 Co-operatives in Principle and Practice. Anne McGillivray and Daniel Ish (144pp. \$10)
- 1992 *Matador: The Co-operative Farming Tradition*. George Melnyk (26pp. \$6)
- 1992 Co-operative Development: Towards a Social Movement Perspective. Patrick Develtere (114pp. \$15)
- 1991 The Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan: A Statistical Overview. Louise Simbandumwe, Murray Fulton, and Lou Hammond Ketilson (54pp. \$6)
- 1991 Farmers, Capital, and the State in Germany, c 1860–1914. Brett Fairbairn (36pp. \$6)
- 1990 Community-Based Models of Health Care: A Bibliography. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Michael Quennell (66pp. \$8)
- 1989 Patronage Allocation, Growth, and Member Well-Being in Co-operatives. Jeff Corman and Murray Fulton (48pp. \$8)
- 1989 The Future of Worker Co-operatives in Hostile Environments: Some Reflections from Down Under. Allan Halladay and Colin Peile (94pp. \$6)
- 1988 Worker Co-operatives and Worker Ownership: Issues Affecting the Development of Worker Co-operatives in Canada. Christopher Axworthy and David Perry (100pp. \$10)
- 1988 A History of Saskatchewan Co-operative Law 1900 to 1960. Donald Mullord, Christopher Axworthy, and David Liston (66pp. \$8)

- 1988 Co-operative Organizations in Western Canada. Murray Fulton (40pp. \$7)
- 1988 Farm Interest Groups and Canadian Agricultural Policy. Barry Wilson, David Laycock, and Murray Fulton (42pp. \$8)
- 1987 Election of Directors in Saskatchewan Co-operatives: Processes and Results. Lars Apland (72pp. \$6)
- 1987 The Property of the Common: Justifying Co-operative Activity. Finn Aage Ekelund (74pp. \$6)
- 1987 Co-operative/Government Relations in Canada: Lobbying, Public Policy Development and the Changing Co-operative System. David Laycock (246pp. \$10)
- 1987 The Management of Co-operatives: A Bibliography. Lou Hammond Ketilson, Bonnie Korthuis, and Colin Boyd (144pp. \$10)
- 1987 Labour Relations in Co-operatives. Kurt Wetzel and Daniel G. Gallagher (30pp. \$6)
- 1987 Worker Co-operatives: An International Bibliography/ Coopératives de Travailleurs: Une Bibliographie Internationale. Rolland LeBrasseur, Alain Bridault, David Gallingham, Gérard Lafrenière, and Terence Zinger (76pp. \$6)
- 1986 *Co-operatives and Their Employees: Towards a Harmonious Relationship.* Christopher Axworthy (82pp. \$6)
- 1986 Co-operatives and Social Democracy: Elements of the Norwegian Case. Finn Aage Ekelund (42pp. \$6)
- 1986 Encouraging Democracy in Consumer and Producer Co-operatives. Stuart Bailey (124pp. \$10)
- 1986 A New Model for Producer Co-operatives in Israel. Abraham Daniel (54pp. \$6)
- 1985 Worker Co-operatives in Mondragon, the U.K., and France: Some Reflections. Christopher Axworthy (48pp. \$10)
- 1985 Employment Co-operatives: An Investment in Innovation: Proceedings of the Saskatoon Worker Co-operative Conference. Skip McCarthy, ed. (288pp. \$23)
- 1985 Prairie Populists and the Idea of Co-operation, 1910–1945. David Laycock (48pp. \$6)

#### Books, Research Reports, and Other Publications

**Note:** All our publications are available free in downloadable PDF format on our website. Apart from Research Reports, which are only available online, other publications are also available in hard copy for a fee.

- 2014 International Students in Saskatchewan: Policies, Programs, and Perspectives. Joe Garcea and Neil Hibbert (8 1/2 x 11, 92pp., Research Report)
- Awareness of and Support for the Social Economy in Saskatoon: Opinion Leader Views. Emily Hurd and Louise Clarke (8 1/2 x 11, Research Report)
- 2014 Worker Co-operative Development in Saskatchewan: The Promise, the Problems, and the

- *Prospects.* Mitch Diamantopoulos and April Bourgeois (8 1/2 x 11, 80pp., Research Report)
- A Global Market in the Heart of Winnipeg: Measuring and Mapping the Social and Cultural Development of Food in the Central Market for Global Families. Kaeley Wiseman, Jino Distasio, and Raymond Ngarboui (8 1/2 x 11, 84pp., Research Report)
- 2014 Relying on their Own Resources: Building an Anishinaabek-Run, Sustainable Economy in the East Side Boreal Waabanong of Lake Winnipeg. Alon Weinberg (8 1/2 x 11, 40pp., Research Report)
- The Reality of the Social Economy and Its Empowering Potential for Boreal Anishinaabek Communities in Eastern Manitoba. Alon Weinberg (8 1/2 x 11, 40pp., Research Report)
- 2014 Penokean Hills Farms: Business Analysis and Stratetic Plan. Brandon Lawrence and Gayle Broad (8 1/2 x 11, 97 pp., Research Report)
- 2013 Self-Directed Funding: An Evaluation of Self-Managed Contracts in Saskatchewan. Isobel M. Findlay and Anar Damji (8 1/2 x 11, 84pp., Research Report)
- 2013 Models for Effective Credit Union Governance: Maintaining Community Connections Following a Merger. Lou Hammond Ketilson and Kimberly Brown (8 1/2 x 11, 84pp., Research Report)
- 2013 Globalization, Social Innovation, and Co-operative Development: A Comparative Analysis of Québec and Saskatchewan from 1980 to 2010. Mitch Diamantopoulos (8 1/2 x 11, 409pp., PhD Dissertation/Research Report)
- 2013 Through the Eyes of Women: What a Co-operative Can Mean in Supporting Women during Confinement and Integration. Isobel M. Findlay, James Popham, Patrick Ince, and Sarah Takahashi (8 1/2 x 11, 114pp., Research Report)
- 2013 Health in the Communities of Duck Lake and Beardy's and Okemasis First Nation. Julia Bidonde, Mark Brown, Catherine Leviten-Reid, and Erin Nicolas (8 1/2 x 11, 53pp., Research Report)
- 2012 Individualized Funding: A Framework for Effective Implementation. Marsha Dozar, Don Gallant, Judy Hannah, Emily Hurd, Jason Newberry, Ken Pike, and Brian Salisbury (8 1/2 x 11, 25pp., Research Report)
- 2012 Mapping Social Capital in a Network of Community Development Organizations: The South West Centre for Entrepreneurial Development Organizational Network. Jason Heit (8 1/2 x 11, 70pp., Research Report)
- 2012 Participatory Action Research: Challenges, Complications, and Opportunities. Patricia W. Elliott (8 1/2 x 11, 54pp., Research Report)
- 2012 Community-Based Regional Food Distribution Initiatives. Colin Anderson and Stéphane McLachlan (8 1/2 x 11, 12pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Sharing My Life: Building the Co-operative Movement. Harold Chapman (6 x 9, 208 pp., \$25)

- 2011 A Co-operative Dilemma: Converting Organizational Form. Edited by Jorge Sousa and Roger Herman (6 x 9, 324 pp., \$25)
- 2011 "A Place to Learn, Work, and Heal": An Evaluation of Crocus Co-operative. Julia Bidonde and Catherine Leviten-Reid (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp., Research Report)
- 2011 An Economic Analysis of Microcredit Lending. Haotao Wu (8 1/2 x 11, 208pp., PhD Dissertation/Research Report)
- 2011 Empowerment through Co-operation: Disability Inclusion via Multistakeholder Co-operative Development. Kama Soles (8 1/2 x 11, 138pp., MA Thesis/Research Report)
- 2011 Economic Impact of Credit Unions on Rural Communities. Fortunate Mavenga (8 1/2 x 11, 133pp., MA Thesis/Research Report)
- Building a Federal Policy Framework and Program in Support of Community Economic Development. Kirsten Bernas and Brendan Reimer (8 1/2 x 11, 56pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Engaging Youth in Community Futures: The Rural Youth Research Internship Project.
  David Thompson and Ashleigh Sauvé (8 1/2 x 11, 56pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Understanding and Promoting Effective Partnerships for CED: A Case Study of SEED Winnipeg's Partnerships. Gaelene Askeland and Kirit Patel (8 1/2 x 11, 43pp., Research Report)
- The Management of Co-operatives: Developing a Postsecondary Course. Leezann Freed-Lobchuk, Vera Goussaert, Michael Benarroch, and Monica Juarez Adeler (8 1/2 x 11, 37pp., Research Report)
- 2011 *Co-operative Marketing Options for Organic Agriculture.* Jason Heit and Michael Gertler (8 1/2 x 11, 136pp., Research Report)
- 2011 *Mining and the Social Economy in Baker Lake, Nunavut.* Warren Bernauer (8  $1/2 \times 11$ , 32pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Enhancing and Linking Ethnocultural Organizations and Communities in Rural Manitoba: A Focus on Brandon and Steinbach. Jill Bucklaschuk and Monika Sormova (8 1/2 x 11, 68pp., Research Report)
- 2011 Community Resilience, Adaptation, and Innovation: The Case of the Social Economy in La Ronge. Kimberly Brown, Isobel M. Findlay, and Rob Dobrohoczki (8 1/2 x 11, 73pp., Research Report)
- 2010 *Municipal Government Support of the Social Economy Sector*. Jenny Kain, Emma Sharkey, and Robyn Webb (8 1/2 x 11, 68pp., Research Report, co-published with the BC-Alberta Social Economy Research Alliance)
- 2010 Portrait of Community Resilience of Sault Ste Marie. Jude Ortiz and Linda Savory-Gordon (8 1/2 x 11, 80pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Community-Based Planning: Engagement, Collaboration, and Meaningful Participation in the Creation of Neighbourhood Plans. Karin Kliewer ((8 1/2 x 11, 72pp., Research Report)

- 2010 Building Community: Creating Social and Economic Well-Being: A Conference Reflecting on Co-operative Strategies and Experiences. Conference report prepared by Mark McCulloch (8 1/2 x 11, 60pp.)
- 2010 Eat Where You Live: Building a Social Economy of Local Food in Western Canada. Joel Novek and Cara Nichols (8 1/2 x 11, 72pp., Research Report)
- 2010 *Cypress Hills Ability Centres Inc.: Exploring Alternatives.* Maria Basualdo and Chipo Kangayi (8 1/2 x 11, 76pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Exploring Key Informants' Experiences with Self-Directed Funding. Nicola S. Chopin and Isobel M. Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 122pp., Research Report)
- 2010 Adult Education and the Social Economy: The Communitarian Pedagogy of Watson Thomson. Michael Chartier (8 1/2 x 11, 114pp., MA Thesis/Research Report)
- Self-Determination in Action: The Entrepreneurship of the Northern Saskatchewan Trappers Association Co-operative. Dwayne Pattison and Isobel M. Findlay (8  $1/2 \times 11$ , 64pp., Research Report)
- 2009 Walking Backwards into the Future. George Melnyk (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- South Bay Park Rangers Employment Project for Persons Living with a Disability: A Case Study in Individual Empowerment and Community Interdependence. Isobel M. Findlay, Julia Bidonde, Maria Basualdo, and Alyssa McMurtry (8 1/2 x 11, 46pp., Research Report)
- Enabling Policy Environments for Co-operative Development: A Comparative Experience. Monica Juarez Adeler (8 1/2 x 11, 40pp., Research Report)
- Culture, Creativity, and the Arts: Achieving Community Resilience and Sustainability through the Arts in Sault Ste. Marie. Jude Ortiz and Gayle Broad (8  $1/2 \times 11$ , 133pp., Research Report)
- 2009 The Role of Co-operatives in Health Care: National and International Perspectives.

  Report of an International Health Care Conference held in Saskatoon 28 October 2008. Prepared by Catherine Leviten-Reid (8 1/2 x 11, 24pp.)
- 2009 The Importance of Policy for Community Economic Development: A Case Study of the Manitoba Context. Brendan Reimer, Dan Simpson, Jesse Hajer, John Loxley (8 1/2 x 11, 47pp., Research Report)
- 2009 Northern Ontario Women's Economic Development Conference Report. PARO Centre for Women's Enterprise (8 1/2 x 11, 66pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Evaluation of Saskatoon Urban Aboriginal Strategy. Cara Spence and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 44pp., Research Report)
- 2008 *Urban Aboriginal Strategy Funding Database*. Karen Lynch, Cara Spence, and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 22pp., Research Report)
- Social Enterprises and the Ontario Disability Support Program: A Policy Perspective on Employing Persons with Disabilities. Gayle Broad and Madison Saunders (8 1/2 x 11, 41pp., Research Report)

- A New Vision for Saskatchewan: Changing Lives and Systems through Individualized Funding for People with Intellectual Disabilities. Karen Lynch and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 138pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Community Supported Agriculture: Putting the "Culture" Back into Agriculture.

  Miranda Mayhew, Cecilia Fernandez, and Lee-Ann Chevrette (8 1/2 x 11, 10pp.,
  Research Report)
- 2008 Algoma Central Railway: Wilderness Tourism by Rail Opportunity Study. Prepared by Malone Given Parsons Ltd. for the Coalition for Algoma Passenger Trains (8 1/2 x 11, 82pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Recovery of the Collective Memory and Projection into the Future: ASOPRICOR. Jose Reyes, Janeth Valero, and Gayle Broad (8 1/2 x 11, 44pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Measuring and Mapping the Impact of Social Economy Enterprises: The Role of Co-ops in Community Population Growth. Chipo Kangayi, Rose Olfert, and Mark Partridge (8 1/2 x 11, 42pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Financing Social Enterprise: An Enterprise Perspective. Wanda Wuttunee, Martin Chicilo, Russ Rothney, and Lois Gray (8 1/2 x 11, 32pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Financing Social Enterprise: A Scan of Financing Providers in the Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Northwestern Ontario Region. Wanda Wuttunee, Russ Rothney, and Lois Gray (8 1/2 x 11, 39pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Government Policies towards Community Economic Development and the Social Economy in Quebec and Manitoba. John Loxley and Dan Simpson (8 1/2 x 11, 66pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Growing Pains: Social Enterprise in Saskatoon's Core Neighbourhoods. Mitch Diamantopoulos and Isobel Findlay (8 1/2 x 11, 70pp., Research Report)
- 2008 Between Solidarity and Profit: The Agricultural Transformation Societies in Spain (1940–2000). Cándido Román Cervantes (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2006 *Co-operative Membership: Issues and Challenges.* Bill Turner (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 2006 Innovations in Co-operative Marketing and Communications. Leslie Brown (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2006 Cognitive Processes and Co-operative Business Strategy. Murray Fulton and Julie Gibbings (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Heritage: Where We've Come From. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 18pp. \$5)
- 2006 Co-operative Membership as a Complex and Dynamic Social Process. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 28pp. \$5)
- 2006 Cohesion, Adhesion, and Identities in Co-operatives. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 42pp. \$5)
- 2006 Revisiting the Role of Co-operative Values and Principles: Do They Act to Include or Exclude? Lou Hammond Ketilson (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2006 *Co-operative Social Responsibility: A Natural Advantage?* Andrea Harris (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)

- 2006 Globalization and Co-operatives. William Coleman (6 x 9, 24pp. \$5)
- 2006 Leadership and Representational Diversity. Cristine de Clercy (6 x 9, 20pp. \$5)
- Synergy and Strategic Advantage: Co-operatives and Sustainable Development. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- Communities under Pressure: The Role of Co-operatives and the Social Economy, synthesis report of a conference held in Ottawa, March 2006, sponsored by the Centre; PRI, Government of Canada; SSHRC; Human Resources and Social Development Canada; and the Co-operatives Secretariat (English and French,  $8\,1/2\,x\,11,\,14pp.$ , free)
- 2006 Farmers' Association Training Materials (part of the China-Canada Agriculture Development Program prepared for Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada and the Canadian International Development Agency). Roger Herman and Murray Fulton (8 1/2 x 11, 134pp.)
- 2006 International Seminar on Legislation for Farmer Co-operatives in China: A Canadian Perspective. Daniel Ish, Bill Turner, and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 22pp.)
- Networking Diversity: Including Women and Other Under-Represented Groups in Co-operatives. Myfanwy Van Vliet (8 1/2 x 11, 24pp., Research Report)
- 2004 Living the Dream: Membership and Marketing in the Co-operative Retailing System.
  Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 288pp. \$20)
- 2004 Building a Dream: The Co-operative Retailing System in Western Canada, 1928–1988 (reprint). Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 352pp. \$20)
- 2004 Cohesion, Consumerism, and Co-operatives: Looking ahead for the Co-operative Retailing System. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2004 Co-operative Membership and Globalization: New Directions in Research and Practice.
  Brett Fairbairn and Nora Russell, eds. (6 x 9, 320pp. \$20)
- 2003 Beyond Beef and Barley: Organizational Innovation and Social Factors in Farm Diversification and Sustainability. Michael Gertler, JoAnn Jaffe, and Lenore Swystun (8 1/2 x 11, 118pp., Research Report, \$12)
- The Role of Social Cohesion in the Adoption of Innovation and Selection of Organizational Form. Roger Herman (8 1/2 x 11, 58pp., Research Report)
- 2003 Three Strategic Concepts for the Guidance of Co-operatives: Linkage, Transparency, and Cognition. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 38pp. \$5)
- 2003 The Role of Farmers in the Future Economy. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 22pp. \$5)
- 2003 Is It the End of Utopia? The Israeli Kibbutz at the Twenty-First Century. Uriel Leviatan (6 x 9, 36pp. \$5)
- 2003 *Up a Creek* with a Paddle: Excellence in the Boardroom. Ann Hoyt (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 2002 A Report on Aboriginal Co-operatives in Canada: Current Situation and Potential for Growth. L. Hammond Ketilson and I. MacPherson (8 1/2 x 11, 400pp. \$35)

- Against All Odds: Explaining the Exporting Success of the Danish Pork Co-operatives. Jill Hobbs (6 x 9, 40pp. \$5)
- 2001 Rural Co-operatives and Sustainable Development. Michael Gertler (6 x 9, 36pp. \$5)
- 2001 NGCs: Resource Materials for Business Development Professionals and Agricultural Producers. (binder, 8 1/2 x 11, 104pp. \$17)
- 2001 New Generation Co-operative Development in Canada. Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- New Generation Co-operatives: Key Steps in the Issuance of Securities / The Secondary Trade. Brenda Stefanson, Ian McIntosh, Dean Murrison (6 x 9, 34pp. \$5)
- New Generation Co-operatives and the Law in Saskatchewan. Chad Haaf and Brenda Stefanson (6 x 9, 20pp. \$5)
- 2001 An Economic Impact Analysis of the Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan: Update 1998. Roger Herman and Murray Fulton (8 1/2 x 11, 64pp.)
- Co-operative Development and the State: Case Studies and Analysis. Two volumes. Vol. I, pt. 1: Summary, Observations, and Conclusions about Co-operative Development; vol. I, pt. 2: Issues in Co-operative Development and Co-operative—State Relations, Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 66pp. \$8); vol. II, pt. 3: Co-operative Development and Sector—State Relations in the U.S.A., Brett Fairbairn and Laureen Gatin; vol. II, pt. 4: A Study of Co-operative Development and Government—Sector Relations in Australia, Garry Cronan and Jayo Wickremarachchi (6 x 9, 230pp. \$12)
- 2000 Interdisciplinarity and the Transformation of the University. Brett Fairbairn and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 2000 *The CUMA Farm Machinery Co-operatives.* Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 46pp. \$5)
- 2000 Farm Machinery Co-operatives in Saskatchewan and Québec. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 42pp. \$5)
- Farm Machinery Co-operatives: An Idea Worth Sharing. Andrea Harris and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 2000 Canadian Co-operatives in the Year 2000: Memory, Mutual Aid, and the Millennium. Brett Fairbairn, Ian MacPherson, and Nora Russell, eds. (6 x 9, 356pp. \$22)
- 1999 Networking for Success: Strategic Alliances in the New Agriculture. Mona Holmlund and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 48pp. \$5)
- 1999 Prairie Connections and Reflections: The History, Present, and Future of Co-operative Education. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 30pp. \$5)
- 1999 *The SANASA Model: Co-operative Development through Micro-Finance.* Ingrid Fischer, Lloyd Hardy, Daniel Ish, and Ian MacPherson (6 x 9, 80pp. \$10)
- 1999 A Car-Sharing Co-operative in Winnipeg: Recommendations and Alternatives. David Leland (6 x 9, 26pp. \$5)
- 1998 Working Together: The Role of External Agents in the Development of Agriculture-Based

- *Industries*. Andrea Harris, Murray Fulton, Brenda Stefanson, and Don Lysyshyn (8 1/2 x 11, 184pp. \$12)
- 1998 The Social and Economic Importance of the Co-operative Sector in Saskatchewan. Lou Hammond Ketilson, Michael Gertler, Murray Fulton, Roy Dobson, and Leslie Polsom (8 1/2 x 11, 244 pp. free)
- 1998 Proceedings of the Women in Co-operatives Forum, 7–8 November 1997, Moose Jaw, SK (8 1/2 x 11, 112pp. \$12)
- 1997 A Discussion Paper on Canadian Wheat Board Governance. Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 Balancing Act: Crown Corporations in a Successful Economy. Brett Fairbairn (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 *A Conversation about Community Development*. Centre for the Study of Cooperatives (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1997 Credit Unions and Community Economic Development. Brett Fairbairn, Lou Hammond Ketilson, and Peter Krebs (6 x 9, 32pp. \$5)
- New Generation Co-operatives: Responding to Changes in Agriculture. Brenda Stefanson and Murray Fulton (6 x 9, 16pp. \$5)
- 1996 Legal Responsibilities of Directors and Officers in Canadian Co-operatives. Daniel Ish and Kathleen Ring (6 x 9, 148pp. \$15)
- 1995 *Making Membership Meaningful: Participatory Democracy in Co-operatives.* The International Joint Project on Co-operative Democracy (5 1/2 x 8 1/2, 356pp. \$22)
- 1995 New Generation Co-operatives: Rebuilding Rural Economies. Brenda Stefanson, Murray Fulton, and Andrea Harris (6 x 9, 24pp. \$5)
- 1994 Research for Action: Women in Co-operatives. Leona Theis and Lou Hammond Ketilson (8 1/2 x 11, 98pp. \$12)

To order from the list on pages 74–83, please contact Centre for the Study of Co-operatives 196 Diefenbaker Building University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, SK, S7N 5B8

Phone: (306) 966–8509 Fax: (306) 966–8517

Email: coop.studies@usask.ca Website: www.usaskstudies.coop

### Regional Partner Organizations



Centre for the Study of Co-operatives



Community-University Institute for Social Research



Community Economic and Social Development Unit Algoma University College



Winnipeg Inner-City Research Alliance



Institute of Urban Studies University of Winnipeg

## **Project Funding**



Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines du Canada

